

Helsinki University of Technology Signal Processing Laboratory Teknillinen korkeakoulu signaalinkäsittelytekniikan laboratorio Espoo 2003

Report 38

SOFT DETECTION AND DECODING IN WIDEBAND CDMA SYSTEMS

Kimmo Kettunen

Dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Science in Technology to be presented with due permission for public examination and debate in Auditorium S1 at Helsinki University of Technology (Espoo, Finland) on the 14th of March, 2003 at 12 o'clock noon.

Helsinki University of Technology Department of Electrical and Communications Engineering Signal Processing Laboratory

Teknillinen korkeakoulu Sähkö- ja tietoliikennetekniikan osasto Signaalinkäsittelytekniikan laboratorio Distribution: Helsinki University of Technology Signal Processing Laboratory P.O. Box 3000 FIN-02015 HUT Tel. +358-9-451 3211 Fax. +358-9-452 3614 e-mail: Mirja.Lemetyinen@hut.fi

© Kimmo Kettunen

ISBN 951-22-6269-X ISSN 1458-6401

Otamedia Oy Espoo 2003

ABSTRACT

A major shift is taking place in the world of telecommunications towards a communications environment where a range of new data services will be available for mobile users. This shift is already visible in several areas of wireless communications, including cellular systems, wireless LANs, and satellite systems. The provision of flexible high-quality wireless data services requires a new approach on both the radio interface specification and the design and the implementation of the various transceiver algorithms. On the other hand, when the processing power available in the receivers increases, more complex receiver algorithms become feasible.

The general problem addressed in this thesis is the application of soft detection and decoding algorithms in the wideband code division multiple access (WCDMA) receivers, both in the base stations and in the mobile terminals, so that good performance is achieved but that the computational complexity remains acceptable. In particular, two applications of soft detection and soft decoding are studied: coded multiuser detection in the CDMA base station and improved RAKE-based reception employing soft detection in the mobile terminal.

For coded multiuser detection, we propose a novel receiver structure that utilizes the decoding information for multiuser detection. We analyze the performance and derive lower bounds for the capacity of interference cancellation CDMA receivers when using channel coding to improve the reliability of tentative decisions.

For soft decision and decoding techniques in the CDMA downlink, we propose a modified maximal ratio combining (MRC) scheme that is more suitable for RAKE receivers in WCDMA mobile terminals than the conventional MRC scheme. We also introduce an improved soft-output RAKE detector that is especially suitable for low spreading gains and high-order modulation schemes. Finally we analyze the gain obtained through the use of Brennan's MRC scheme and our modified MRC scheme.

Throughout this thesis Bayesian networks are utilized to develop algorithms for soft detection and decoding problems. This approach originates from the initial stages of this research, where Bayesian networks and algorithms using such graphical models (e.g. the so-called sum-product algorithm) were used to identify new receiver algorithms. In the end, this viewpoint may not be easily noticeable in the final form of the algorithms, mainly because the practical efficiency considerations forced us to select simplified variants of the algorithms. However, this viewpoint is important to emphasize the underlying connection between the apparently different soft detection and decision algorithms described in this thesis.

Keywords — CDMA, soft detection, soft decoding, coded multiuser detection, RAKE receiver, sum-product algorithm, iterative methods

PREFACE

The work constituting this thesis was carried out in the Signal Processing Laboratory and the Networking Laboratory (formerly Laboratory of Telecommunications Technology) at Helsinki University of Technology. I wish to express my deep gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Timo Laakso for his interest and advice as well as for allowing a significant amount of academic freedom in my research. I would also like to thank Prof. Iiro Hartimo for the opportunity to work at the Signal Processing Laboratory as well as the laboratory secretaries Anne Jääskeläinen and Mirja Lemetyinen for the help with all the practical issues and arrangements.

Dr. Jorma Lilleberg and Dr. Kari Kalliojärvi from Nokia are gratefully acknowledged for the guidance they have given me during my work in various research projects. Dr. Yrjö Kaipainen from Nokia Research Center deserves special acknowledgement for the numerous good pieces of advice he has given me during the years.

I am grateful to all the colleagues and co-workers that I have had the pleasure to work with during the years. Especially the support of Ms. Kirsi Valtari and Dr. Henryka Jormakka was valuable in the beginning of my career in telecommunications at VTT Information Technology. I also want to thank my good friend and colleague Dr. Ramin Baghaie for guidance at several stages of my career, in particular for teaching me basketball among other important academic skills. Ms. Maarit Melvasalo is acknowledged for asking good questions during our many lunches. Finally, I want to thank Mr. Heikki Ahava and Dr. Kari Pehkonen for giving me an opportunity to finalize the thesis while working in my new position.

I would like to thank my wife Kaisa for her love and patience for the absent-minded researcher, and our children Kaiku and Kerttu for taking my mind off the research work often enough.

The financial support of the National Technology Agency (TEKES), NOKIA, Sonera Corporation, and Elisa Communications is gratefully acknowledged.

Espoo, January 2003

Kimmo Kettunen

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	. I
PREFACE	
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	/11
LIST OF FIGURES	IX
LIST OF ACRONYMS	XI
LIST OF SYMBOLS AND NOTATIONSX	
1 INTRODUCTION	. 1
2 BACKGROUND	. 3
2.1 Cellular Systems	.4
 2.2 Fundamentals of Digital Communications. 2.2.1 Elements of a Digital Communications system. 2.2.2 Multiple Access Techniques. 	5 6
2.3 Reference CDMA Receiver Structure	7
3 SOFT DETECTION AND DECODING	9
3.1 Detection of Random Processes	9
3.2 Classical Detection Theory	10
3.3 Reduced Complexity Methods. 3.3.1 Hard Sequence Detection	11 15 20
3.4 Soft Detection and Decoding in Wideband CDMA Systems	23
4 CODED MULTIUSER RECEIVERS	25
4.1 Combined Channel Coding and Spreading	26

4.2	Partitioned Multiuser Receivers	26
4.3	Integrated Multiuser Receivers	27
4.3	Optimal Multiuser Receiver for Coded CDMA Systems	
4.3	3.2 Interference Cancellation with Hard Decoded Tentative Decisions	
4.3	3.3 Iterative Joint Multiuser Receivers	29
4.3	B.4 System Issues of Iterative Joint Multiuser Receivers	31
5	SOFT DETECTION AND DECODING IN MOBILE TERMINALS	33
5.1	Reducing the Complexity in Soft Detection and Decoding	
5.2	Symbol Metric Generation for Soft Decision Decoders	
6	SUMMARY OF PUBLICATIONS	41
61	Passivors Using Itorative Deceding with Interference Concellation	/1
6.1	Use of Bayasian networks in basic algorithm design	
6.1	2 Summary of the research performed on coded multiuser detection	
6.2	Soft-output RAKE Receivers for CDMA Mobile Terminals	51
6.2	Use of Bayesian networks in basic algorithm design	52
6.2	Summary of the research performed on soft-output RAKE receivers	57
6.3	Originality and Contribution of the Publications	58
6.4	Author's Contribution to the Publications	61
7	CONCLUSIONS	63
8	FUTURE WORK	65
PUB	LICATIONS [P1]-[P6]	81

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

- [P1] K. Kettunen, T. Laakso, "Iterative multiuser receiver utilizing soft decoding information," in Proceedings *IEEE International Communications Conference*, ICC'99, Vancouver, BC, Canada, pp. 942-946, June 1999.
- [P2] K. Kettunen, "Iterative multiuser receiver/decoders with enhanced variance estimation," in Proceedings *IEEE 49th Vehicular Technology Conference*, VTC'99, Houston, Texas, USA, pp. 2318-2322, May 1999.
- [P3] K. Kettunen, "Performance of coded multistage detection in correlated Rayleigh channels", in Proceedings *X European Signal Processing Conference*, EUSIPCO-2000, Tampere, Finland, pp. 565-568, September 2000.
- [P4] K. Kettunen, "Enhanced maximal ratio combining scheme for RAKE receivers in WCDMA mobile terminals", *IEE Electronics Letters* vol. 37, no. 8 pp. 522-524, 12th April 2001.
- [P5] K. Kettunen, J. Lilleberg, "Decoding metric of downlink CDMA RAKE receivers using bit-interleaved coded modulation", accepted to Wireless Personal Communications, May 2002.
- [P6] K. Kettunen, "Enhanced maximal ratio combining for RAKE receivers in mobile CDMA terminals", in Proceedings 5th Nordic Signal Processing Symposium, NORSIG 2002, on board Hurtigruten, Norway, pp. 217-221, October 2002.

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 Cellular network structure
Figure 2 Basic elements of a digital communications system (Adapted from [Pro95])
Figure 3 Reference CDMA Receiver Structure
Figure 4 A simple Bayesian network for BPSK modulation in AWGN channel13
Figure 5 Bayesian network for a non-systematic convolutional code13
Figure 6 Bayesian network for a (7,4) Hamming code14
Figure 7 Bayesian network for a simple channel with ISI between the consecutive symbols18
Figure 8 Bayesian network for coded multiuser detection with convolutional code and two user
Figure 9 Bayesian network for a simple Turbo code in an AWGN channel2
Figure 10 Generic message exchange principle for iterative joint multiuser receivers
Figure 11 Bayesian network for CDMA downlink system model with two users and known channel coefficients
Figure 12 Bayesian network for a CDMA downlink model for one user when interference i modelled by Gaussian approximation and channel coefficients are known
Figure 13 Bayesian network for a CDMA downlink model for one user when interference i modelled by Gaussian approximation and channel coefficients are unknown
Figure 14 Bayesian network for a CDMA downlink model with perfect interleaving for one use when interference is modelled by Gaussian approximation and channel coefficients are unknown
Figure 15 Graph of the general case coded MUD with partitioning44
Figure 16 Component graph of Type A44
Figure 17 Component graph of Type B44
Figure 18 Bayesian network presenting the downlink system model
Figure 19 Chain-like component of Type A in downlink model
Figure 20 Likelihood calculation component graph in downlink model54

LIST OF ACRONYMS

3GPP	The 3 rd Generation Partnership Project
APP	A Posteriori Probability
AWGN	Additive White Gaussian Noise
BCJR	Bahl, Cocke, Jelinek and Raviv
BER	Bit Error Rate
BPSK	Binary Phase Shift Keying
DFMD	Decision-Feedback Multiuser Detector
DS-CDMA	Direct Sequence CDMA
CDMA	Code Division Multiple Access
EDGE	Enhanced Data rates for GSM Evolution
ETSI	European Telecommunications Standards Institute
FDD	Frequency Division Duplex
FDMA	Frequency Division Multiple Access
FM	Frequency Modulation
GPRS	General Packet Radio Service
GSM	Global System for Mobile communications
HSCSD	High-speed Circuit Switched Data
HSDPA	High-Speed Downlink Packet Access
IC	Interference Cancellation
IMT-2000	International Mobile Telecommunications 2000
ISI	Intersymbol Inference

ITU	International Telecommunication Union
MAI	Multiple Access Interference
MAP	Maximum A Posteriori
MF	Matched Filter
ML	Maximum Likelihood
MLSE	Maximum Likelihood Sequence Estimator
MMSE	Minimum-Mean-Squared-Error
MMSE DF	Minimum-Mean-Squared-Error Decision-Feedback
MRC	Maximum Ratio Combining
MUD	Multiuser Detection
NMT	Nordic Mobile Telephone system
OSOME	Optimum Soft-Output Multiuser Estimation
PC	Power Control
PDF	Probability Density Function
QAM	Quadrature Amplitude Modulation
RCRD	Reduced-Complexity Recursive Detector
RS	Reed-Solomon
SISO	Soft-Input-Soft-Output
SSOME	Suboptimum Soft-Output Multiuser Estimation
ТСМ	Trellis Coded Modulation
TDMA	Time Division Multiple Access
UMTS	Universal Mobile Telecommunications System
UTRAN	UMTS Terrestrial Radio Access Network
WCDMA	Wideband CDMA

LIST OF SYMBOLS AND NOTATIONS

H_0	Null hypothesis
H_1	Alternative hypothesis
H_k	Hypothesis in multiple hypothesis case
y(t)	Received signal
s(t)	Signal of interest
$s_k(t)$	Signal of interest in multiple hypothesis case
n(t)	White Gaussian noise
L(T)	Likelihood ratio
М	Number of hypotheses
М	Number of modulation symbols
$\left(\cdot ight)^{\mathrm{T}}$	Transpose of a real-valued vector
u	Information bit vector
У	Received signal sample vector
n	Vector of additive white Gaussian noise samples
S	Vector of states
X	Vector of output bits from a convolutional encoder
$p(\mathbf{u} \mathbf{y})$	Probability distribution of \mathbf{u} conditioned on \mathbf{y}
<i>p</i> (u , y)	Joint probability distribution of \mathbf{u} and \mathbf{y}
x_k	The k^{th} element of arbitrary vector x
$f(s_i)$	Output bit generation rule for a convolutional encoder

$g(s_{i-1}, u_i)$	State transition rule for a convolutional encoder
$a \oplus b$	Modulo 2 addition
û	Vector of detected information bits
$\max_{\mathbf{u}\in U} v(\mathbf{u})$	Vector u that produces the maximum value for some function $v(\mathbf{u})$
$\Phi(\mathbf{u})$	The output of the encoder with input u
Н	Channel matrix
σ^2	Variance
R	Cross correlation matrix
Α	Amplitude matrix
Κ	Number of users
$sgn(\cdot)$	A vector containing the signs of the argument vector elements
$E(\cdot)$	Expectation value
I	Identity matrix
Q	Code rate
R	Inverse of the code rate $1/Q$
W	Constraint length of the convolutional code
$y_i^{(l)}$	The <i>l</i> th RAKE finger output sample in mobile terminal receiver
$\rho(i,l,p,j,k)$	Correlation coefficient between different symbols and users in different paths
$h_{j}^{\left(p ight) }$	Channel coefficients for <i>p</i> th path at time <i>j</i>
<i>x_{ik}</i>	Coded information symbol for user k at time i
S _{ik}	Channel encoder state for user k at time i
\mathbf{y}_{i}	Vector of matched filter output samples for all users at time <i>i</i>
Xi	Vector of transmitted data symbols for all users at time <i>i</i>

n _i	Vector of white Gaussian noise samples for all users at time <i>i</i>
$u_j^{(k)}$	Information symbols for user k at time j
$\mathcal{Y}_i^{(k)}$	Matched filter output sample for user k at time i
$x_i^{(k)}$	Transmitted data symbol for user k at time i
$S_j^{(k)}$	State of the channel encoder for user k at time j
λ	Likelihood message used in the sum-product algorithm
$\lambda(Y \to X)(x)$	Likelihood message from node representing random variable Y to node representing random variable X
π	Probability message used in the sum-product algorithm
$\pi(X \to Y)(x)$	Probability message from node representing random variable X to node representing random variable Y
$p(u_j^{(k)} = u)$	Probability that $u_j^{(k)}$ is equal to u
$\sum_{s',u:g(s',u)=s}$	Sum over all possible value pairs (s', u) that satisfy $g(s', u)=s$
$\sum_{s: f_{l}(s) = x_{R(j+1)+l}^{(k)}}$	Sum over all possible values of <i>s</i> satisfying $f_l(s) = x_{R(j+1)+l}^{(k)}$
$\sum_{\mathbf{x}_i:x_i^{(k)}=x}$	Sum over all possible vectors \mathbf{x}_i such that the k^{th} element of the vector is x
$\prod_{h\neq k}$	Product over all possible values of h except k

 $\max_{\mathbf{x}_i:x_i^{(k)}=x}$

Maximum over all possible vectors \mathbf{x}_i such that the k^{th} element of the vector is *x*



Sum over all possible values of h except k

$(\mathbf{RA}\hat{\mathbf{x}}_i)^{(k)}$	The k^{th} element of the vector $\mathbf{RA}\hat{\mathbf{x}}_i$
$y_l(n)$	The <i>l</i> th RAKE finger output sample in mobile terminal receiver at time <i>n</i>
$h_l(n)$	The l th path channel coefficient at time n
x(n)	Coded channel symbol for the desired user at time n
$w_l(n)$	Combined channel noise and interference sample at time n
σ_l^2	Variance of $w_l(n)$
$\hat{h}_l(n)$	Channel estimate for the l th path channel coefficient at time n
$\sigma_{z_l}^2$	Average mean-squared error of $\hat{h}_l(n)$
F	Arbitrary positive real constant
Re(·)	Real part of a complex number

1 INTRODUCTION

A major shift is taking place in the world of telecommunications towards an era of "tetherless" communications where a range of new data services is available for mobile users. This shift is already visible in several areas of wireless communications, including cellular systems, wireless LANs, and satellite systems.

In the area of cellular mobile systems, the existing 2nd-generation systems are rapidly being upgraded for the provision of these new data services. For instance in GSM, the standardization of the high-speed circuit switched data services (HSCSD) as well as packet switched data services (GPRS) has already been completed. A major step in the introduction of the new data services has been the 3rd generation cellular systems such as Universal Mobile Telecommunications System (UMTS) specified by 3GPP and a part of the IMT-2000 family under development in ITU. There is also an ongoing activity for the evolution of UMTS Terrestrial Radio Access Network (UTRAN) beyond the original requirements, the high-speed downlink packet access (HSDPA), which is aiming at high peak data rates and low overall delays [PDF01].

The provision of this kind of high-speed, high-quality wireless data services requires a new approach on both the radio interface specification and on the design and the implementation of the various transceiver algorithms. There is a need for further development of existing algorithms as well as for the creation of completely new solutions. Recognizing this need, the broad framework of this research is the development of advanced receiver algorithms to be used in base station and mobile terminal receivers for UTRAN Frequency Division Duplex (FDD) mode, where the Wideband Code Division Multiple Access (WCDMA) technology is used.

Looking at possible new directions, the success of iterative decoding for Turbo codes [HeW99] suggests that a new way to devise these high-performance algorithms could be found by considering a probabilistic approach where soft information presenting the probabilities of different alternatives is used in detection and decoding processes. Many detection, decoding and estimation problems can be reduced to the estimation of certain probabilities. Detection and decoding algorithms that actually produce these probabilities or some continuous-value metrics

based on these are called in this thesis soft detection and decoding methods (See Chapter 3 for details). There are known algorithms that may be used for the estimation of the probabilities such as the *sum-product algorithm* (also called the *generalized forward-backward algorithm*). Many of these algorithms use some graphical description of the dependencies between the random variables in the system, such as Bayesian networks [Fre98]. However, these algorithms may have a high computational complexity. Thus the main problem remains how to derive soft detection and decoding algorithms for CDMA receivers with good performance while keeping the computational complexity acceptable.

This thesis considers the above problem and studies the application of soft detection and decoding methods in two specific cases: coded multiuser detection in the CDMA base station, and improved RAKE-based reception employing soft detection in the mobile terminal. The initial approach in this research was to describe these soft detection and decoding problems using Bayesian networks and then to apply some variant of the sum-product algorithm. However, since there is a need to have algorithms with reduced complexity (especially for the mobile terminal), the final algorithms are quite specialized variants of the sum-product algorithm that may be hard to recognize. To emphasize this initial theme in this research, Bayesian networks are used whenever possible to illustrate the addressed soft detection and decoding problems.

The thesis structure is as follows: in Chapter 2, a short background on wireless systems and receivers is given; in Chapter 3, soft detection and decoding is introduced starting from detection theory and introducing soft detection by considering reduced complexity methods and in particular iterative methods, where the soft detection and decoding play a key role. The chapter is concluded by a review of soft detection and decoding in wideband CDMA systems.

Chapter 4 studies the application of soft detection for coded multiuser detection in CDMA base stations. The state-of-the-art research on coded multiuser receivers is reviewed and the emphasis is on iterative joint multiuser receivers, the type of receivers considered in publications [P1] and [P2]. Finally, some system issues of iterative joint multiuser receivers are considered that are related the analysis presented in [P3].

In Chapter 5, the application of soft detection for an improved RAKE-based reception in the mobile terminal is studied. The approach used to derive the improved RAKE receivers proposed in [P4], [P5] and [P6] is presented. In Chapter 6, a summary of the publications is presented and in Chapter 7 some concluding remarks are made. Possibilities for future work are discussed in Chapter 8.

2 BACKGROUND

The history of wireless communication began in the late 19th century when Hertz, Marconi, Tesla, and many other scientists and engineers experimented with the transmission and reception of electromagnetic waves, predicted by Maxwell's theory published in 1864 [Max64]. In 1888, Hertz experimentally verified the existence of electromagnetic waves [CiW95]. The practical significance of this discovery became gradually apparent and in 1896 Marconi applied for a patent utilizing the electromagnetic waves for wireless communications [Nig97]. Followed by Tesla's demonstration of a radio remotely controlled boat in 1898 [MaB01], the first wireless ship-to-shore telegraph link by Marconi the same year [EAS95] and the first trans-atlantic wireless transmission in 1901 [Nig97], these events may be considered as the start of wireless communications.

From the beginning of the 20th century, the progress in radio technology was rapid. But even though many key concepts such as the cellular model, spread spectrum techniques and digital modulation were known more than 50 years ago, mobile telephone services did not appear in useful forms until the early 1960s, and even then only as elaborate adaptations of simple dispatching systems [RWO95]. The convenience of these early mobile systems was severely limited, and their maximum capacity was tiny by today's standards. The situation changed in the early 1980's, when the first *cellular* mobile systems went into service in Japan and in the United States. These were analog full duplex FM systems, but still they became quickly popular, as did other similar systems, such as NMT. The next major step was the introduction of the 2nd generation digital cellular systems, like the GSM. Today, the popularity of 2nd generation systems has exceeded all expectations and with the emerging new data services and the introduction of 3rd generation systems, the future of wireless communications has great potential.

In the rest of the chapter we give a brief overview of the cellular radio and the fundamentals of digital communications, the two concepts that have played a key role in the development of mobile communications. Finally we will present a reference receiver model that is used in this thesis to derive the soft detection and decoding methods.

2.1 CELLULAR SYSTEMS



Figure 1 Cellular network structure

In early mobile radio systems, a small set of frequencies was used for a huge geographical area. The transmitters were so powerful that their operating frequencies could not be reused for hundreds of kilometers. This was a major limitation to the capacity of the system; once a channel was in use, the channel was not reuseable over the whole coverage area, even though the need for a mobile communication channel was confined to a small part of the network's service area. This prohibited the mass deployment of mobile communications.

A new approach was proposed, where the total frequency band was split to several sub-bands. These sub-bands were allocated to different geographical cells with a procedure where neighborhood cells were allocated different sub-bands e.g. according to Figure 1. In this way several cells could coexist spatially and so the cellular structure was born.

In practice special care needs to be taken in order to limit the interference between cells. This may be achieved by a suitable frequency allocation scheme or by utilizing spread spectrum techniques. In addition, the frequency range used should be high enough to limit the signal propagation. With suitable equipment, roaming and hand-overs can be used to be both reachable and have uninterrupted connection established while moving from one cell to another.

2.2 FUNDAMENTALS OF DIGITAL COMMUNICATIONS



2.2.1 Elements of a Digital Communications system

Figure 2 Basic elements of a digital communications system (Adapted from [Pro95])

In a cellular system both uplink (terminal-to-base station) and downlink (base station-to-terminal) communication is required between the mobile terminals and the base station. With digital cellular systems, the communication system for both uplink and downlink are usually arranged using the generic digital communication system structure shown in Figure 2. The task of the communication system is to relay the information between the information source and the sink. For the uplink, the information source is in the mobile terminal, it can for instance be an A/D converter that converts the speech signal to digital information. For the downlink, the information source is somewhere in the cellular network or in another mobile terminal.

The aim of the source encoder is to remove the redundancy that is present in every natural information source. The output of the *source encoder* is passed to the *channel encoder*. The purpose of the channel encoder is to introduce, in a very particular manner, some redundancy in the input sequence, which can be used for error detection and correction in the receiver. The output of the channel encoder is passed to the *digital modulator*, which serves as an interface to the communications channel. In the case of cellular communication, several users typically share the channel and some multiple access technique needs to be employed. The different multiple access methods are discussed further in Section 2.2.2.

In the receiver, each transmitter block has a counterpart that complements the function of the transmitter block in question. The *digital demodulator* processes the waveform received through the channel and reduces the waveforms to a sequence of numbers that present the estimates of the transmitted data symbols. In this process which is often referred to as *detection*, the used multiple access technique is also taken into account. This sequence of numbers is passed to the channel decoder, which attempts to reconstruct the original input of the *channel encoder* using the information of the redundancy structure, that is, the channel coding information. Finally the output of the channel decoder is fed to the *source decoder*, which tries to reconstruct the original message.

The generic digital communications system structure shown in Figure 2 does not describe all the details in the system. Thus, depending on the focus, a more detailed description of some parts of the system may be needed. In this thesis, the main focus is on the methods used in the wideband CDMA receivers for detection and channel decoding. The above receiver structure needs to be elaborated for those parts. This is done in Section 2.3 where we describe a more detailed reference receiver structure.

2.2.2 Multiple Access Techniques

In cellular communications, the total capacity within a cell needs to be divided between the existing users. In addition to the duplexing, some multiple access method is required to support the simultaneous access to the radio channel by all users. Usually, the basic approach is to employ signals that are orthogonal or at least nearly orthogonal. Then, correlators that project the received signal into the subspace of the desired signal can be employed to extract it, ideally without interference from other transmissions. The orthogonal signal set can be selected in a variety of ways. The most commonly used multiple access techniques result when the orthogonal signal sets are obtained by selecting signals that are separated either in frequency domain, time domain or code domain.

In the frequency domain signals, which occupy non-overlapping frequency bands, can be separated using appropriate bandpass filters. Hence, signals can be transmitted simultaneously without significantly interfering with each other. This method of providing multiple access capabilities is called frequency-division multiple access (FDMA).

In the time domain, signals are transmitted in non-overlapping time slots for instance in a roundrobin fashion. The signals occupy the same frequency band but can be separated based on their time of arrival. This method of providing multiple access capabilities is called time-division multiple access (TDMA).

In the code domain, the signals are transmitted simultaneously and even occupy the same frequency band. However, the signals are selected to be nearly mutually orthogonal. Thus, correlators can extract individual signals from the mixture of signals, although some amount of multiple access interference (MAI) will usually be present due to the non-orthogonality. This method of providing multiple access capabilities is called code-division multiple access (CDMA).

2.3 **REFERENCE CDMA RECEIVER STRUCTURE**

The basic model for digital communications shown in Figure 2 is presents a high level view of the system. In each block there is a hidden structure that needs to be taken into account in more specific discussions. This thesis considers soft detection and decoding methods, where a feedback from the channel decoder to the detector often plays a key role. These methods are also closely related to iterative decoding methods that utilize a particular channel decoder structure with constituent decoders and a feedback loop [HeW99]. In order to have a unified framework for the purposes of this thesis, we present a reference CDMA receiver structure that is used in the subsequent discussions. The reference structure of a CDMA receiver is shown in Figure 3. The detector can be for instance some variant of the coded matched filter detector, RAKE based detector, multiuser detector or a combination of those. The output of the detector is passed (reference point A in the figure) to the channel decoder. The channel decoder may consist of one or several constituent decoders. One decoder is used e.g. when convolutional coding is used for speech and several constituent decoders are used for concatenated and Turbo codes. The information is passed from the "inner" decoder to the "outer" one (reference point B) and in the case of iterative decoding there is also a feedback loop (reference point C). There may also be some feedback between channel coding output and the detection (reference point D) e.g. for iterative joint multiuser detection and decoding. Finally the output of the channel decoder is passed (Reference point E) to the source decoder, which produces the final output information.



Figure 3 Reference CDMA Receiver Structure

The information passed at the reference points may only contain estimates of the bits or symbols. Alternatively, it may also contain some measure indicating how reliable the estimate is. In the former case we say that *hard information* is passed while in the latter case we say that *soft information* is passed. In principle, either hard or soft information can be passed at all the reference points in Figure 3, although for reference point C, only soft information passing has proven beneficial in practice [HeW99].

We use the term *soft detection* for the case where soft information is passed at reference point A. Alternatively, when only hard information is passed at reference point A, term *hard detection* is used. When soft information is produced in the output of either the channel decoder or a constituent decoder (reference points B, C, D and/or E, depending on the case), a term *soft decoding* is used. Since the soft decoding in practice requires also soft input in the decoder, the term *soft-input-soft-output (SISO) decoder* [BeM96] is often used for decoders performing soft detection.

Hard decoding has two variants. When a channel (or constituent) decoder has soft input (in reference point A or B), but produces hard information in the output, a term *soft decision decoder* is used. When even the input is hard information, a term *hard decision decoder* is used. It is clear from these definitions that for a soft decision channel decoder, soft detection must be used in the detector.

The CDMA receivers studied in this thesis are an iterative joint multiuser receiver for the base stations and an improved RAKE receiver for mobile terminals. The iterative joint multiuser receiver considered in this thesis uses soft detection and a SISO decoder for a convolutional code. Thus there is only one constituent decoder and soft information is passed at reference point A. Receiver variants both with soft information and hard information feedback from the decoding at reference point D are considered.

In the improved RAKE receiver for mobile terminals the feedback at reference point D is not used in order to reduce the receiver complexity, which is especially important in the mobile terminal receiver. Thus a soft output RAKE receiver is used followed by soft decision decoding. Thus only one constituent decoder is used and soft information is only passed at reference point A.

3 SOFT DETECTION AND DECODING

In Section 2.3 soft detection and soft decoding were briefly introduced. In this chapter we give an overview of detection theory and discuss soft detection and soft decoding more thoroughly in the context of detection theory, where soft detection and soft decoding play a central role especially in reduced complexity detection methods, which are often applicable in cases, such as channel decoding, where there are so many decision alternatives that the straightforward extension of the classical binary detection is not practical. These methods typically utilize some underlying structure of the problem. We use dependency graphs (Bayesian networks to be precise) to describe the structure and show how different structures are utilized in various algorithms. Finally, we discuss the detection problems arising in wideband CDMA systems and show how these problems can be solved with different algorithms when certain simplifications are made.

3.1 DETECTION OF RANDOM PROCESSES

The goal of signal detection (and estimation) is to process information-bearing signal in order to draw some conclusions about the information that they contain. This can be modeled as extracting information about a random process by using the output of another, dependent random process. As such it is closely related to the problem of statistical inference and shares the common foundation laid by the classical work of Bayes [Bayes], Gauss [Gauss], Fisher [Fis22], and Neyman and Pearson [NeP33]. A good review of detection theory is given by Kailath and Poor in [KaP98].

In most signal detection methods the decisions are based on probabilistic inference. This means that a set of (conditional) probabilities or some metric derived from those is calculated and the decision is made based on these. For instance, when making the detection decision, the alternative that corresponds to the maximum *a posteriori* probability, may be selected or, in binary cases, the sign of the log likelihood ratio gives the selected alternative ([Poo94]). According to our definition, *soft detection and decoding methods* are algorithms that produce the probabilities or other continuous-value metrics that are used in some detection algorithm. The difference between soft detection and soft decoding in this context is that soft detection is used for cases where there are only a few alternatives (e.g. binary or *M*-ary signals), whereas soft

decoding is used for soft detection of sequences that are generated by some kind of channel encoder.

On the other hand, *hard detection and decoding* methods produce one specific selection of the alternative decision possibilities without any information of the reliability of the decision. These methods may be used as a part of a larger detection algorithm. These terms should not be confused with soft and hard decision decoding defined in Section 2.3. Recall that soft and hard decision decoding methods, but in soft decision decoding the input is soft information, that is a set of probability distributions or some derived metric, like log-likelihood ratio. In fact, hard decision coding is an example where a hard detection method (hard detection of signals corresponding to individual code word symbols) is a part of a larger detection algorithm (code sequence detection).

3.2 CLASSICAL DETECTION THEORY

The basic classical detection problem is the detection of signals in white Gaussian noise ([Nor43]). There one needs to choose between two hypotheses of the form

$$H_0: y(t) = n(t), \quad 0 \le t \le T$$
 (1)

and

$$H_1: y(t) = s(t) + n(t), \quad 0 \le t \le T$$
 (2)

where s(t) represents the signal of interest and n(t) is white Gaussian noise. The signal may be completely known, known except for a few random or unknown parameters (e.g. $s(t) = \alpha A(t) \cos(\omega_0 t + \theta)$), or a random process.

The case of a known signal is covered in basic textbooks. As usual, the problem can be reduced to the calculation of the likelihood ratio, which in this case can be written as [WoJ65]:

$$L(T) = \exp\left\{\int_{0}^{T} s(t)y(t) dt - \frac{1}{2}\int_{0}^{T} y^{2}(t) dt\right\}.$$
(3)

From this formulation it is evident that the solution is equivalent to a detector using matched filter receiver, which is optimal in the signal-to-noise ratio sense and originates from the early work on RADAR detection [Nor43]. The case of a known signal with unknown or random parameters has also been studied in several specific cases; see e.g. [Poo94].

This basic problem can be extended to a case where the signal is a random process, for instance a Gaussian random process. Another way of extending the problem is by allowing the noise to be colored or even non-Gaussian. See [KaP98] for a review on these cases.

One can generalize the binary case to the case of multiple hypothesis of the form

$$H_k: y(t) = s_k(t) + n(t), \quad k = 1, 2, K, M$$
 (4)

The multiple hypothesis case can be handled in most cases by introducing a dummy hypothesis, $H_0: y(t) = n(t)$, and then using the chain rule for likelihood ratios [Poo94]. Typically, the complexity of the solution grows linearly with *M*.

3.3 REDUCED COMPLEXITY METHODS

Classical detection theory gives sufficient tools for binary detection as well as for multiplehypothesis case, when the number of alternative hypotheses is limited. In digital communications, the cases of multiple hypotheses arise in two basic situations: detection of *M*-ary signaling alphabet and the joint detection of statistically dependent multiple data transmissions. In the Mary signaling case, the number of hypotheses M is often small (e.g. 8 or 16) and the complexity is manageable. The second case arises in applications such as coded communications and multipleaccess communications. In these applications the entire sequence or group of symbols must be detected jointly for optimal detection. If the number of *M*-ary symbols to be jointly detected is *N*, then the number of possible hypotheses is M^N . This number is so large in many practical detection applications that the linear complexity of the methods reviewed in the previous section is not feasible. Thus some form of complexity reduction is necessary. Fortunately many practical applications can be described (with sufficient accuracy) with models that have suitable structure so that the complexity of optimal detection can be substantially reduced. In this section we describe how complexity can be reduced in hard sequence detection where the sequence likelihoods (a priori probabilities) are used and in iterative sequence detection, where the symbol-by-symbol MAP (maximum a posteriori probability) criterion is used.

One approach to complexity reduction is to consider the stochastic structure of the system. In this viewpoint, the structure describes the dependencies between different random variables in the system model. Often many problems have stochastic structure that simplifies the calculation of various probability distributions of interest. This naturally reduces the complexity of soft detection.

For hard sequence detection these simplifications typically also allow the application of dynamic programming substantially reducing the complexity [KaP98]. This approach can be used to obtain many well-known detection algorithms such as the *Viterbi algorithm* for detecting convolutionally encoded data transmitted over memoryless channels [Omu69], [Vit67], the *maximum likelihood sequence estimator* (MLSE) for equalizing linearly dispersive channels [For72] and *multiuser detectors* (MUD) for demodulating non-orthogonally multiplexed data [Ver86], [Ver98]. This approach is discussed in Section 3.3.1.

With symbol-by-symbol *a posteriori* probability calculations, a different approach is preferable. For calculation of probability distributions, the dependencies between different random variables can be presented with a suitable graphical model such as Bayesian network [Pea88], factor graph [FKL97] or some other variant. A good overview on different graphical models from the digital communications point of view is given in [Fre98]. In brief, the various graphical models can be used to develop algorithms for inferring the distributions of selected random variables in the system model given the observed values of some other random variables. Examples of these algorithms include the *forward-backward algorithm* [BaP66] for chain type structures and *sumproduct algorithm* [KFL01] for singly-connected graphical models. A good review of these and various other related algorithms can be found in [AjM00] and [KFL01]. These algorithms are essentially generalized forms of soft detection and soft decoding algorithms, which calculate probability distributions for certain random variables (presenting often the transmitted information) in a model describing the communications system. The use of these methods for iterative sequence detection is discussed in Section 3.3.2.

Here, to give a more specific example we consider a simple case where a information bit vector $\mathbf{u} = (u_0, u_1, u_2)^T$ is transmitted using BPSK modulation in an AWGN channel. The received vector is thus

$$\mathbf{y} = (y_0, y_1, y_2)^{\mathrm{T}} = \mathbf{u} + \mathbf{n}, \qquad (5)$$

where $\mathbf{n} = (n_0, n_1, n_2)^T$ is a vector of additive white Gaussian noise samples. Figure 4 shows the Bayesian network for the system that describes the dependencies between the variables. Note that the information bits are assumed independent. The random variables presenting noise are shown as dashed, because conventionally these are not shown and instead the distribution of y_k is modified to include the effect of noise. Here we include also those for clarity. For simplicity of the notations we consider a receiver where the detection is done by finding the information bit



Figure 4 A simple Bayesian network for BPSK modulation in AWGN channel



Figure 5 Bayesian network for a non-systematic convolutional code

vector that maximizes the *a posteriori* probability instead of symbol-by-symbol MAP. Thus the corresponding soft detection problem is to calculate the probability distribution $p(\mathbf{u}|\mathbf{y})$. The dependency structure in Figure 4 means that the joint probability distribution $p(\mathbf{u},\mathbf{y})$ can be factored as

$$p(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{y}) = \prod_{k=0}^{2} p(u_k, y_k).$$
⁽⁶⁾

This is in essence how also the sum-product algorithm calculates the distribution.

From Equation (6) by using the independence of y_k 's it can also be seen that the *a posteriori* probability can be factored as $\prod p(u_k | y_k)$. Thus the maximization of the *a posteriori*

probability can in fact be done component-wise and the **u** can be determined by finding each u_k that maximizes the corresponding component distribution $p(u_k | y_k)$. In the case of this simple example, this can of course seen also directly. In the previous example the soft detection algorithm was reduced to a trivial one. This was possible because the model was memoryless in the sense that the random variables at different sampling times were independent. In [Fre98] a more complex example is presented where convolutional channel coding is modeled using the Bayesian network shown in Figure 5. In the example, the information bits $\mathbf{u} = (u_0, u_1, u_2)^{T}$ are passed to the convolutional encoder that produces the output bits $\mathbf{x} = (x_0, x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, x_5)^{T}$ and the state transition sequence $\mathbf{s} = (s_0, s_1, s_2)^{T}$ by the code-dependent rules:

$$\begin{cases} s_i = g(s_{i-1}, u_i) \\ x_i = f(s_i) \end{cases}$$
(7)

White Gaussian noise is then added to produce the received sequence $\mathbf{y} = (y_0, y_1, y_2, y_3, y_4, y_5)^T$. In this case, the forward-backward algorithm is the Bahl, Cocke, Jelinek and Raviv (BCJR) algorithm [BCJ74] that is used as a component decoder to calculate the symbol-by-symbol *a posteriori* probabilities in iterative decoding of Turbo codes. This example is discussed further in Section 3.3.1.1 where the maximum likelihood sequence estimator for this system is considered.



Figure 6 Bayesian network for a (7,4) Hamming code

When the network is more general, the conventional forward-backward algorithm cannot be applied. The forward-backward algorithm can be generalized to the sum-product algorithm [AjM00], [KFL01]. This algorithm can be used to compute probability distributions when the network is singly-connected, that is, any two vertices are connected only by a single path when edge directions are ignored. The sum-product algorithm is in fact also applicable for networks that are not singly-connected. However, in that case the algorithm does not produce the distributions precisely. In fact it is known, [Coo90], that the calculation of the probability distributions in general Bayesian networks is NP-hard. There is a strong body of evidence [MMC98], implying that the sum-product algorithm in multiply-connected graphs nevertheless produces good approximations of the distributions in many important application areas, in particular in the area of iterative channel decoding [SKL98], but the understanding of the behavior of the algorithm for multiply-connected graphs is still incomplete. See [FrM98] for a good overview on the subject. The iterative algorithms are discussed further in Section 3.3.2.

In [FrM98] an example is given where a (7,4) Hamming code is considered. This code takes 4 input bits and outputs these bits together with three parity bits $x_4 = u_0 \oplus u_1 \oplus u_2$, $x_5 = u_0 \oplus u_1 \oplus u_3$ and $x_6 = u_1 \oplus u_2 \oplus u_3$. The coded bits are transmitted through an AWGN channel using BPSK modulation. The corresponding Bayesian network is shown in Figure 6. It is clearly not singly-connected (e.g. the loop $u_0 \rightarrow x_4 \rightarrow u_1 \rightarrow x_5 \rightarrow u_0$). Due to the simple nature of the code, even the exact symbol-by-symbol *a posteriori* probabilities can be calculated. In [FrM98], a performance comparison between the MAP decoders that use the exact symbol-by-symbol *a posteriori* probability estimates calculated by a sum-product algorithm on the network in Figure 6 are done. At 10⁻³ BER, the performance loss of the sum-product algorithm is about 0.25dB. It should be mentioned here that other methods can be used for calculating the probability distributions in multiply-connected Bayesian networks, such as Gibbs sampling [Pea88], variational inference [SJJ96] and Helmholtz machines [DHN95]. They are not typically used in detection and decoding applications and are thus outside the scope of this thesis.

3.3.1 Hard Sequence Detection

In this section we describe how a reduced complexity approach can be used in sequence detection, that is, in detectors where the entire information vector is detected simultaneously. The soft sequence detection is not considered mainly because the calculation of probabilities for all

possible sequences is usually not feasible in practice. This is why the symbol probabilities are usually used in soft decoding. Although the sum-product algorithm is not directly applicable for sequence probability calculations we still use Bayesian networks when describing the calculation of probability distributions. This is done for the consistency of the presentation. For sequence estimation, the complexity reduction is done through the use of dynamic programming following the approach in [KaP98].

The specific methods considered in this section are the maximum-likelihood (ML) detection and linear detection. Applications such as the Viterbi algorithm for detecting convolutionally encoded data transmitted over memoryless channels [Omu69], [Vit67], maximum likelihood sequence estimator (MLSE) for equalizing linearly dispersive channels [For72] and multiuser detector (MUD) for demodulating non-orthogonally multiplexed data [Ver86], [Ver98] are discussed as examples.

3.3.1.1 Maximum-Likelihood Detection

Given the observed vector \mathbf{y} in some system model, the maximum likelihood sequence detection of some unknown information vector \mathbf{u} means solving the optimization problem:

$$\hat{\mathbf{u}} = \max_{\mathbf{u} \in U} p(\mathbf{y} \mid \mathbf{u}).$$
(8)

The complexity of solving (8) by brute force (e.g. by exhaustive search) is proportional to the number of possible information vectors, that is the cardinality |U|. However, with a suitable probabilistic structure of the problem, the complexity can be reduced substantially by using dynamic programming.

Our first example considers a convolutional decoder. Consider again the Bayesian network for convolutional channel coding shown in Figure 5. Recall the notation, where the information bits $\mathbf{u} = (u_0, u_1, u_2)^{\mathrm{T}}$ were passed to the convolutional encoder that produced the output bits $\mathbf{x} = (x_0, x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, x_5)^{\mathrm{T}}$ and the state transition sequence $\mathbf{s} = (s_0, s_1, s_2)^{\mathrm{T}}$. White Gaussian noise was subsequently added to produce the received sequence $\mathbf{y} = (y_0, y_1, y_2, y_3, y_4, y_5)^{\mathrm{T}}$.

At the receiver we want to maximize the likelihood $p(\mathbf{y} | \mathbf{u})$. The dependence structure in Figure 5 implies that the joint probability distribution can be factored as

$$p(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{s}, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = p(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{s}, \mathbf{x}) p(\mathbf{y} | \mathbf{u}, \mathbf{s}, \mathbf{x})$$
(9)

$$= p(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{s}, \mathbf{x}) p(\mathbf{y} \mid \mathbf{x}),$$

where the last equality applies, because, as is evident from the graph, given the transmitted codeword \mathbf{x} the received vector \mathbf{y} is independent of the state vector \mathbf{s} and the information vector \mathbf{u} . From (9) we obtain after some simplifications

$$p(\mathbf{y} \mid \mathbf{u}) = \sum_{\mathbf{x} \in X} p(\mathbf{y} \mid \mathbf{x}) p(\mathbf{x} \mid \mathbf{u}) .$$
(10)

Note that **x** is in fact uniquely determined by **u** and thus only one term in the summation is different from zero. Thus by denoting $\mathbf{x} = \Phi(\mathbf{u})$ the output of the encoder with input **u** we get

$$p(\mathbf{y} \mid \mathbf{u}) = p(\mathbf{y} \mid \boldsymbol{\Phi}(\mathbf{u})) = p(\mathbf{y} \mid \mathbf{x}).$$
(11)

So far we have not utilized the memoryless property of the channel. This property is in fact indicated in the Bayesian network in Figure 5 where the different received bits y_k are only connected via the state variables. Thus given the transmitted codeword $\mathbf{x} = \Phi(\mathbf{u})$, which determines the state transition sequence the components y_k of the receiver vector \mathbf{y} are independent. Thus Equation (11) can be factored and by adopting the log-notation we obtain the well-known decision rule

$$\hat{\mathbf{u}} = \max_{\mathbf{u} \in U} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \ln p(y_n \mid \Phi(\mathbf{u})_n).$$
⁽¹²⁾

Due to the state structure of the system model, dynamic programming can be applied to this problem, resulting in the Viterbi algorithm. As a summary the dependency structure of the system was used explicitly twice to get Equation (12) and once implicitly to allow for dynamic programming to be used.

Our next example is the maximum-likelihood sequence estimator (MLSE) for linearly dispersive intersymbol-interference channels. In this example the transmitted information bits $\mathbf{u} = (u_0, u_1, u_2)^T$ are distorted when transmitted through the channel which is modeled by the channel matrix **H**. The channel thus creates inter-symbol interference. The received vector $\mathbf{y} = (y_0, y_1, y_2)^T$ consists of these distorted bits further degraded by additive white Gaussian noise:

$$\mathbf{y} = \mathbf{H}\mathbf{u} + \mathbf{n} \,. \tag{13}$$



Figure 7 Bayesian network for a simple channel with ISI between the consecutive symbols

Figure 7 shows the Bayesian network for a simple ISI channel with such a short delay spread that there is intersymbol interference (ISI) only between the consecutive symbols. The channel matrix is not explicitly shown in Figure 7, since the channel coefficients are modeled in this case as deterministic variables and only random variables of the model are shown in Bayesian networks. They are however implicitly contained in the graph in the conditional PDFs $p(y_i | \mathbf{u})$. See Section 5.1 for a model where channel coefficients are modeled as random variables.

Although the probability distribution $p(\mathbf{y} | \mathbf{u})$ for Figure 7 can be calculated rather easily, the derivation of general algorithm based on the presentation of the figure is not simple. One option is to modify the Bayesian network by introducing artificial state variables that are used to present the channel state, that is the symbols transmitted in the past. This leads to a Bayesian network similar to that of Figure 5 and the resulting algorithm is the Viterbi equalizer. The complexity depends on the maximum delay spread of the channel.

In this example it is also straightforward to use the linear system model (13) to derive the MLSE in the conventional way. In this case we get

$$p(\mathbf{y} | \mathbf{u}) = \frac{1}{2\pi\sigma^2} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2\sigma^2} (\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{H}\mathbf{u})^{\mathrm{T}} (\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{H}\mathbf{u})\right)$$
(14)

and the problem may after some simplifications be reduced to maximizing

$$\Omega(\mathbf{u}) = 2\mathbf{u}^{\mathrm{T}}\mathbf{H}\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{u}^{\mathrm{T}}\mathbf{R}\mathbf{u}, \qquad (15)$$

where $\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{H}^{\mathrm{T}}\mathbf{H}$. This optimization problem is NP-complete and thus offers little improvement in complexity over exhaustive search. However, since the maximal delay spread is in practice
limited, **H** is a banded matrix and the complexity of the algorithm is substantially reduced. More details can be found in [KaP98], where also the detailed complexity reduction reasoning can be found. It is interesting to note that even this alternative reasoning uses artificial channel state variables that contain the past information bits.

As a last example we consider the optimum multiuser detection (in the maximum-likelihood sense). The derivation and analysis of the optimum multiuser receiver has been done by Verdù [Ver86] in the early eighties, when it was realized that the performance of the conventional detector can be exceeded, if the detection is done jointly for all users. For a *K*-user basic synchronous channel, the decision rule is to select $\mathbf{u} = (u_1, K, u_K)^T$ that maximizes

$$\Omega(\mathbf{u}) = 2\mathbf{u}^{\mathrm{T}}\mathbf{A}\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{u}^{\mathrm{T}}\mathbf{H}\mathbf{u}, \qquad (16)$$

where $\mathbf{H} = \mathbf{ARA}$ is the unnormalized cross-correlation matrix. However, in this case the above complexity reduction method cannot be used, essentially since \mathbf{H} is not a banded matrix. In fact it is known ([Ver89]) that the existence of an algorithm whose computational complexity is polynomial (w.r.t *K*) would imply that a polynomial algorithm exists for the famous traveling salesman problem. Thus the maximization of (16) can be solved with an algorithm whose time complexity per bit is $O(2^K / K)$ and no better algorithm is known.

3.3.1.2 Linear Detection

In this section we will briefly review the linear sequence detectors: decorrelating or zero-forcing detector and minimum-mean-squared-error (MMSE) detector. This review is used in Chapter 4 when reviewing the coded multiuser receivers.

One common way (see e.g [KaP98]) to derive reduced complexity is to look at a system model presented as a linear system

$$\mathbf{y} = \mathbf{H}\mathbf{u} + \mathbf{n} \tag{17}$$

instead of the probabilistic structure and furthermore to restrict the possible detectors (for the binary case) to be of the form

$$\hat{\mathbf{u}} = \operatorname{sgn}(\mathbf{z}),\tag{18}$$

where

$$\mathbf{z} = \mathbf{M}\mathbf{y} \tag{19}$$

and \mathbf{M} is an arbitrary matrix. Such detectors are known as *linear detectors*. Using (17), we can write (19) as

$$\mathbf{z} = \mathbf{u} + \mathbf{n} + (\mathbf{MH} - \mathbf{I})\mathbf{u} + (\mathbf{M} - \mathbf{I})\mathbf{n}, \qquad (20)$$

where **I** is the identity matrix. Thus the vector **z** is a composition of four terms: the desired signal **u**, the irreducible noise **n**, the structured interference (**MR-I**)**u**, and the residual noise (**M-I**)**n**. Note that only the latter two terms can be controlled by the choice of **M**. Setting **M**=**I** removes the residual noise term and the resulting detector becomes the symbol-by-symbol matched filter detector. This detector is optimal when **H** is a diagonal matrix, but in the general case it suffers from the structured interference, which, depending on the system that is modeled, can be for instance inter-symbol or multiple access interference. Alternatively, by choosing $\mathbf{M} = \mathbf{H}^{-1}$, we get a zero-forcing detector, which drives the structured interference term to zero. This is also known as the *zero-forcing equalizer* in the context of inter-symbol interference channel and as the *decorrelating detector* in the context of multiuser detection.

Although the zero-forcing detector is optimal in the maximum-likelihood sense, it has the undesirable feature of noise enhancement due to the introduction of a residual noise term. An alternative detector between the previous two extremes can be derived by selecting **M** which minimizes the quadratic mean $E(|\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{z}|^2)$. This minimum-mean-square-error (MMSE) detector is given by [Pro95]

$$\mathbf{M} = \left(\mathbf{H} + \sigma^2 \mathbf{I}\right)^{-1}.$$
 (21)

In this section we have briefly shown, how the classical reduced complexity (hard) sequence detectors can be derived by considering the stochastic structure of the system. For reference we have also discussed linear methods. All of these methods are basic textbook material although the Bayesian network approach is not commonly used. In the next section we use again the Bayesian network approach to review a more recently discovered class of reduced complexity sequence detectors: the iterative detectors.

3.3.2 Iterative Sequence Detection Methods

In the beginning of Section 3.3 we discussed the symbol-by-symbol MAP decoding when the problem has a natural multiply-connected structure. In this section we give practical examples and describe how iterative methods can be successfully applied for such problems. A first

example is the optimum multiuser detection for convolutionally coded CDMA systems considered in [GiW96]. The dependency graph for that problem is shown in Figure 8 for the twouser case. There are several "loops" in the graph and thus the exact probability distributions cannot be calculated with probability propagation methods. In fact, as with the multiply connected problems in general, this problem also results in a solution with exponential computational complexity, which makes it impractical. As calculated in [GiW96], the time complexity per decoded bit for multiuser MLSE is $O(2^{WK})$, where *W* is the constraint length for the convolutional coding used in the system and *K* is the number of users. For instance, for a realistic 16-user case using the convolutional coding typically used in WCDMA systems with W=9, the number of the states in the joint trellis is 2^{143} and the time complexity per decoded bit is 2^{144} .

Naturally, there are many ways to produce suboptimal solutions to these kinds of problems. From the Bayesian network perspective, a most natural approach is to use some approximating algorithms for the computation of the probability distributions. These were briefly discussed in the beginning of Section 3.3. In this subsection we investigate more deeply the possibility of using the sum-product algorithm, which is exact for singly-connected graphs also for multiply connected graphs. Specifically, we study problems that produce Bayesian graphs that are multiply connected, but which allow execution of some efficient simplified version of the sum-product algorithm (e.g. allow the use of the forward-backward algorithm) in a number of separate parts of the network. The algorithm is executed in the different parts of the network either sequentially or in parallel and the connections between the parts are ignored during this. After the completion of the algorithms, the probability information is exchanged between the regions and the process is repeated. This approach is referred to as *iterative methods* in this thesis. A well-known example of these methods is the well-known Turbo decoding algorithm [Sk198].

Figure 9 shows the Bayesian network for a simplified Turbo code used as an example in [MeV98]. The close relation between the sum-product algorithm and Turbo decoding was recognized in [MMC98], where it was shown that turbo decoding can be viewed as an implementation of a calculation of *a posteriori* probabilities using the sum-product algorithm in which the presence of loops in the Bayesian network is ignored.



Figure 8 Bayesian network for coded multiuser detection with convolutional code and two users

They also show how this approach can be used to routinely derive several previously known iterative, but suboptimal, decoding algorithms for a number of different error-control systems, such as Gallager's low-density parity-check codes [Gal62], serially concatenated codes [BeM96], and product codes [HOP96]. Thus the Bayesian network approach provides a very attractive general methodology for devising low-complexity iterative decoding algorithms for hybrid coded systems. In Section 4 we show how this approach can also be applied to coded multiuser detection, where several proposed iterative algorithms can be understood through the use of Bayesian networks.



Figure 9 Bayesian network for a simple Turbo code in an AWGN channel

3.4 SOFT DETECTION AND DECODING IN WIDEBAND CDMA SYSTEMS

In this section we summarize the soft detection and decoding applications that are relevant in wideband CDMA systems. In current 3GPP wideband CDMA systems, the soft detection and decoding methods are used primarily in functions related to channel decoding. Both Turbo codes and convolutional codes are used, and convolutional codes may be used either with RS coding as a concatenated code, or as a stand-alone coding for services such as speech [3GPPc]. It is well known that the use of soft decision decoding can offer a significant performance gain in fading channels [Pro95, p.813], and it is thus typically applied when convolutional code is used either as stand-alone code or as an inner code of a concatenated coding scheme. This is a very simple application of soft detection. When Turbo codes are used, some iterative decoder algorithm is used in the receiver, which also utilizes soft decoding.

Looking at longer-term developments and the state-of-the-art research, the most extensively studied soft detection and decoding application for wideband CDMA systems is the iterative reception for coded multiuser detection that is discussed more extensively in Chapter 4. Also

other studies addressing the soft detection and decoding in wideband CDMA systems have been done.

In [LiL00], an iterative PDF estimation and decoding scheme based on non-parametric PDF estimation is proposed for CDMA systems when the global noise is non-Gaussian distributed, as is the case with only a small number of high-power interfering users. In [HaA96], a decoder structure for concatenated codes is proposed that uses soft outputs produced by the inner stages of the receiver as compared to the standard approach, where hard outputs are produced by the inner stages. In [RaA97] the optimum metric for soft decision decoding with channel state information in the presence of fading is derived and the performance gains achieved with this are demonstrated. In [Nag98] a receiver with an iterative soft decision using forward-error-corrected data is proposed. This utilizes a soft-decision Viterbi decoder preceded with a soft-decision processor, which obtains feedback info from the decoder output.

One can also utilize soft detection to produce improved soft output CDMA detectors that provide input for soft decision decoders. This approach is discussed in detail in Chapter 5.

In this thesis we study two different applications of soft detection and decoding for wideband CDMA systems. The use of iterative receivers for coded multiuser detection is a long-term possibility, because the receiver complexity is still substantial. This will be the main topic of Section 4. In mobile stations, the processing power and power consumption constraints are still more stringent and thus more attention must be paid to the algorithm complexity. Thus in Section 5 we study the soft-detection problem of producing the correct soft information for soft-decision decoding of a convolutional code by using a RAKE-like soft detector.

4 CODED MULTIUSER RECEIVERS

In this chapter we review coded multiuser receivers and show how Bayesian networks can also be applied to understand iterative joint receivers for coded CDMA systems. When interfering users are present in a CDMA system, the total interference power, although spread over the whole bandwidth, steadily increases. With a simple matched filter (MF) receiver this causes a gradual increase of the symbol error rate. The performance loss is more severe if the interfering users are using higher transmitting powers than the desired user. This phenomenon is called the *near-far problem*. It was first recognized and solved by Verdú [Ver86], by proposing that the symbols of all the users should be detected simultaneously. However, as was discussed in Section 3.3.2, this original (optimal) receiver structure was prohibitively complex and thus suboptimal approaches were needed. The research of *multiuser receivers* that detect the symbols of all the users simultaneously has grown since Verdú's original article into a whole research branch.

There are also ways to further extend the idea of joint detection. Since all practical systems employ some channel coding to improve the performance, one could argue that the optimum joint receiver should jointly detect and decode the information streams of all users. Clearly, this is an even more complex task to be carried out in practice, but again some suboptimal algorithms can provide the desirable tradeoff between the performance gain and complexity. The work on this research area has been active during the last years and the articles [P1, P2] in this thesis are part of this research.

The detailed content of this chapter is as follows. In Section 4.1 we will deviate slightly from the main theme and describe how the channel coding should in fact be integrated with the spreading for the maximum performance gain. This approach is presented to give some perspective when investigating the main subject of the chapter, namely, how soft detection and decoding methods may be used to achieve a closer connection with channel decoder and multiuser detection for a good performance gain when separate spreading and channel coding are used. In the rest of the chapter, multiuser receivers for coded CDMA systems are presented based on the classification given in [GWi96].

The broad class of multiuser receiver architectures which treat multiuser detection and channel decoding separately are referred to as partitioned multiuser receivers and are discussed in Section 4.2. The drawback with the partitioned approach is that since the multiuser detection operates at the code symbol level as though there were no coding in the link, it will not derive any advantage from the coding. This drawback can be avoided with a tighter integration between the multiuser detection and decoding. In Section 4.3 we will review the existing research on such integrated receiver architectures. Our emphasis in this thesis is on the iterative joint multiuser receivers, which are reviewed in depth in Section 4.3.3.

4.1 COMBINED CHANNEL CODING AND SPREADING

The code rate can be defined as the ratio of the information bits to the code bits. Any non-trivial channel code has a code rate Q<1. Assuming that a fixed information bit rate is required, the encoding increases the signal bandwidth by spreading it with a factor of R=1/Q. Usually, this spreading is kept as small as possible to save bandwidth. However, in DS-CDMA systems the signal spreading is desirable and the spreading process can be considered as a low-rate code, which is simply a repetition code followed by a multiplication with the spreading code. This suggests that, instead of a high rate channel code followed by separate spreading, a performance gain could be achieved by using a low rate channel coding that would also perform the spreading with the spreading factor R=1/Q, where Q<<1 is the code rate. This approach was first proposed and analyzed in [Vit90]. There a very low rate convolutional code is used as a channel code. The encoder output rate is equal to the chip rate and thus no further spreading is required. The encoder output is multiplied with a pseudo-random scrambling sequence in both the quadrature and in-phase branches.

The analysis in [Vit90] shows that the total capacity of a CDMA system using combined coding and spreading asymptotically approaches the Shannon limit in the AWGN channel. It is not a surprise from the information theoretic point of view, but since these kinds of systems are expected to be implementable in practice at least in the long-term, this is an important result.

4.2 PARTITIONED MULTIUSER RECEIVERS

When designing a multiuser receiver architecture for a coded CDMA system, a simple approach is to consider multiuser detection and channel decoding separately. This class of multiuser receiver architectures is referred to as *partitioned multiuser receivers*. One can take any of the uncoded multiuser receivers followed by a channel decoder. If the particular multiuser receiver produces hard decisions, hard decision decoding must be used which causes some loss of performance. This is called the *hard decision approach*. The hard decision case is analyzed in [GWi96] and can be used mainly as a reference point. The performance of the hard decision multistage IC followed by a channel decoder is analyzed in [JuK99].

Alternatively, one can design multiuser detectors that provide soft decisions. This is called the *soft decision approach*. In this case the soft decision decoding can be utilized separately for each user. The soft decision approach is also analyzed in [GWi96] for a conventional single-user soft-decision receiver and for a soft-output decorrelating detector. In addition, the paper contains a brief discussion on trellis-based soft-output multiuser detectors and on soft-output multistage detection. It should be emphazised that, in the partitioned approach, the tentative decisions in the multistage detection do not utilize the channel code information. The multistage detection using channel code in tentative detection is discussed in Section 4.3.

Other linear soft-decision multiuser receivers are considered in [Ale97], [SRA96] and [SAR98], where a soft-output decorrelating receiver (See section 3.3.1.2) is studied and a new kind of linear receiver, called the projection receiver, is proposed. The projective receiver achieves interference cancellation by projecting the undesired users onto the space spanned by the desired users' signal vectors. The detector calculates the least-squares estimate of the interfering users' data that is used to yield the soft output. A computationally efficient adaptive version of the algorithm is proposed in [ScM97] and [SAR97].

In [VSP97], a soft-output Maximum *A Posteriori* (MAP) detector is used to provide optimum sequence of soft inputs to the disjoint channel decoders of the users. In [HaS97], the soft-output multiuser detection algorithms are based on the algorithms developed for channels with ISI. This leads to a derivation of an optimum soft-output multiuser estimation (OSOME) algorithm and a reduced complexity suboptimal version (SSOME). Another trellis-based partitioned receiver for an asynchronous CDMA system is proposed in [NSR98], where a modified reduced-complexity recursive detector (RCRD) is used as a soft-output multiuser detector followed by a bank of Viterbi decoders, one for each user.

4.3 INTEGRATED MULTIUSER RECEIVERS

Since all the partitioned multiuser receivers operate at the code symbol level as if there were no coding on the link, there is no advantage taken from the coding in the actual multiuser detection phase. This causes a performance loss. This can be avoided by integrating the multiuser detection and channel decoding more tightly.

4.3.1 Optimal Multiuser Receiver for Coded CDMA Systems

In [GiW96], the optimal multiuser sequence estimator is formulated for a coded DS-CDMA system in a non-dispersive additive white Gaussian noise channel. The receiver thus performs multiuser detection and channel decoding together by using a Viterbi algorithm, which in the case of a rate-1/2 code is operating on a trellis with 2^{WK-1} states and two branches per state, where *K* is the number of users and *W* is the constraint length of the convolutional code. The number of the states clearly grows very fast with both *K* and *W*. In fact, even a simple four-user example with a four-state rate-1/2 convolutional code (*W*=3) requires a trellis with 2048 states! Thus the optimal multiuser sequence estimation is prohibitively complex for a real system. It does however provide a good reference point by which to judge the suboptimal receivers. In [GWi96] the use of some sub-optimum trellis-based algorithm using for instance reduced trellis or sequential decoding is proposed to reduce the complexity.

For CDMA systems using trellis-based modulation and coding, an optimal multiuser receiver was proposed in [FaA96]. They also proposed a sub-optimum detector based on a reduced tree search algorithm and a multistage IC receiver.

4.3.2 Interference Cancellation with Hard Decoded Tentative Decisions

In decision-directed multiuser receivers such as successive IC and multistage IC receivers, the coding information can be included very naturally in the receiver structure by using the channel decoder output as tentative decisions. This general approach is proposed and analyzed already in [GWi96], where a soft decision Viterbi algorithm is proposed for tentative decision generation in a multistage IC receiver. The performance of such a receiver is analyzed in [JuK99]. Also the use of partial interference cancellation in combination of joint decoding is studied there.

In [RKS97], a joint successive interference cancellation scheme is proposed, where hard or soft decision Viterbi decoding is used in each step of the interference cancellation. In [BrY98], an improved method is proposed, where several hypotheses are maintained in each user's Viterbi decoder until several lower-power users have been decoded.

The approach presented above can also be applied to multistage IC receivers. In [DaE98] and [DEA98] soft-decision decoding is used for tentative decisions in a multistage IC receiver to reduce the complexity of the joint detection and decoding scheme. Suboptimal channel decoding is also used to further reduce the complexity. In [HaL98] and [HLi98] soft-decision decoding is used for tentative decisions in a multiuser detector that is additionally using a sliding-window-

based approach to cancel the multiuser interference. In [HaL99], a modified version of the receiver structure is proposed that effectively combines the RAKE receiver with the joint multiuser receiver and decoder proposed earlier.

As was mentioned previously, a multistage IC receiver that uses decoded tentative decisions is proposed for CDMA systems using a trellis-based modulation and coding scheme in [FaA96].

One main difficulty with using decoded tentative decisions in interference cancellation in fading channels is that, if fading is slow compared to the data rate, a large interleaving block-size is required to provide sufficient coding gain, if the normal channel code is also used for tentative decisions. In this case, the additional de-interleaving and re-interleaving required causes an unacceptably long delay in the cancellation process. There are also some significant system impacts of this delay in wideband CDMA systems, which are discussed in 4.3.4. [SaN96] and [SaW96] propose this kind of system using multi-carrier modulation where no interleaving is required. They also use the regenerative or chip level interference cancellation, where the interference cancellation is performed at each stage for the spread signal.

Some other decision-directed receivers for coded systems have also been proposed. A minimummean-squared-error decision-feedback (MMSE DF) multiuser receiver for coded CDMA systems is proposed in [MVF99]. A single stage decision-feedback multiuser detector (DFMD) using soft decision Viterbi decoder is proposed in [HaS96].

4.3.3 Iterative Joint Multiuser Receivers

The receivers described in the previous section use hard decoder outputs for tentative decisions. The only exception is the receiver proposed in [BrY98], where several hypotheses are maintained. By using soft output decoders, a performance gain may be achieved by using soft information for the interference cancellation. In the related literature, the interference cancellation receivers with soft tentative decisions are usually called *iterative joint multiuser receivers*. This name probably comes from the use of soft-input-soft-output (SISO) decoders in a manner similar to that of the iterative decoding schemes such as the decoding of Turbo codes. These algorithms are typically derived from iterative decoding schemes in an essentially ad hoc manner. In our context, these methods can be understood by looking at the corresponding Bayesian network. Figure 10 shows the Bayesian network for a simple convolutionally coded synchronous CDMA system already discussed in Section 3.3.2. Assuming that the incoming distributions are known, then any variant of the forward-backward algorithm such as the MAP algorithm (or the max-log-MAP) can be applied by the SISO decoders (one for each user to be decoded) operating on the

frame part of the network. The key remaining issue is how the soft information is exchanged between the individual SISO decoders. Different papers propose different methods for this information exchange. A similar approach can be taken in asynchronous and Turbo-coded CDMA systems, but the network will be more cumbersome.

In [WaP98] and [WaP99] SISO decoders are used both for multiuser detection and for channel decoding in an iterative manner for convolutionally coded CDMA systems. A synchronous CDMA system is considered in [WaP98] and this is extended to asynchronous CDMA systems in [WaP99]. In these papers the exact multiuser SISO and two alternative low-complexity algorithms are proposed that are based on soft interference cancellation and on linear MMSE filtering. In [ARA99], a similar receiver structure is analyzed for a large number of users (compared to the processing gain) in a convolutionally coded asynchronous CDMA system and a near-single user performance is reported. In [Moh97], [Moh98], [Moh98b] and [MoG98] a slightly different structure for an asynchronous CDMA system is studied which is derived from iterative methods used for minimizing cross-entropy. A reduced-complexity scheme using Log-MAP approximation of the exact MAP algorithm is proposed for convolutionally coded asynchronous CDMA systems in [VaW98]. In [ReA97], [RAA97], [Ral97] and [RSA98] a synchronous CDMA system in an AWGN channel is studied and still another approach is proposed where the decoder input metric is calculated in a reduced manner. The complexity of this approach is reduced in [Chi01] where a decision-feedback SISO multiuser detector is used. In [ZhB01] an iterative multiuser receiver for decoding Turbo-decoded synchronous CDMA signals is studied both for Gaussian and non-Gaussian impulse noise.

In [QTG00] an iterative interference cancellation receiver for asynchronous Turbo-coded CDMA is proposed. Expectation values of the coded bits are used as soft values in the interference cancellation step. This essentially means that the soft values are calculated by taking hyperbolic tangent of the log-likelihood ratios for the coded bits.

In [HsW01] a low complexity iterative multiuser receiver for Turbo-coded synchronous CDMA system is proposed. A modified decorrelating decision-feedback detector that uses given *a priori* log-likelihood-ratios to produce soft-output is proposed.



Figure 10 Generic message exchange principle for iterative joint multiuser receivers

In [HSH97], a multi-code CDMA system is studied and an iterative receiver using soft tentative decisions based on the SISO decoder output is proposed. The same kind of receiver was independently proposed in [P1] where it was compared with an optimal multiuser likelihood calculation algorithm developed in the same article. The work on the optimal multiuser likelihood calculation algorithm was continued in [P2], where the impact of the variance estimation algorithm was studied.

In [KaH97] the use of soft tentative decisions based on the SISO decoder output is studied for coded multi-carrier CDMA (MC-CDMA) systems. This is also studied in [AAA98] and in [AkA98]. In [Her98] the iterative cancellation of interference with the aid of soft values of the decoded bits is studied for multi-code CDMA systems. In [ThG01], a soft iterative multisensor array receiver for convolutionally coded asynchronous CDMA systems is proposed.

4.3.4 System Issues of Iterative Joint Multiuser Receivers

In addition to the increased complexity, the main difficulty with using iterative joint multiuser receivers - or IC receivers with decoded tentative decisions - in fading channels is the prohibitively long delay caused by the interleaved channel codes. Currently, interleaving is virtually always used in channel codes designed for fading channels because it is a relatively

simple method to obtain the required time diversity. However, in order to obtain this time diversity, the interleaving block length must be substantially longer than the channel coherence time. On the other hand, the whole interleaving block must be received before the iterative detection/decoding process can take place. This means that there is a significant delay between the actual reception of the signal and the actual availability of the receiver symbol. This is naturally unacceptable for delay-sensitive applications.

However, even worse problems are caused by this delay to fast power control, which is used in wideband CDMA systems. The operation of the fast power control requires that the transmission power is adjusted based on the received power control (PC) bit. This needs to be done with a reasonably low delay. Thus the delay induced by the iterative joint detection/decoding is unacceptable high. There are two alternative solutions to this problem. In the first alternative one detects and decodes the power control bits with a conventional receiver. For instance in 3GPP WCDMA systems this is reasonably straightforward, since the power bits are transmitted in a separate physical control channel. Naturally the joint detection/decoding gain is not achieved for PC bits, which reduces the system performance. This approach is not studied further in this thesis.

The second alternative is to use a coding scheme that is a concatenation of an inner noninterleaved code and an outer interleaved code. Only the inner code would be used in the multiuser detection and the delay between the symbol reception and the availability of the detected symbols would be reduced. In [P3], an analysis is presented which shows that interleaving is not so significant for good *interference cancellation* performance even in correlated fading channels. In fact, in a correlated Rayleigh fading channel, the performance of an IC receiver using decoded tentative decisions and a relatively weak non-interleaved code will be near the single-user performance limit.

5 SOFT DETECTION AND DECODING IN MOBILE TERMINALS

In the previous chapter the use of soft detection and decoding methods was considered for the base station receiver. In the mobile terminal the complexity constraints are much harder and the use of advanced signal processing algorithms must be justified more carefully. In particular the limited processing power of a mobile terminal implies that the use of iterative methods considered for coded multiuser detection in Section 4 can only be justified if the achieved gains are sufficient. However, the downlink interference levels are in general much smaller than the uplink MAI and this imples less achievable gain in the downlink. Thus an approach is selected where the iterative methods are not studied, but instead the focus is on soft detection methods derived by modeling inter-symbol-interference as independent Gaussian noise. This approach can be seen a multipath variant of Gaussian approximation. It is shown that even with these moderate-complexity methods a significant gain is achieved compared to the conventional RAKE receiver.

In this chapter we review the use of these soft methods in mobile CDMA receivers. Although the original contributions [P4]-[P6] use Gaussian approximation and conventional analytic methods instead of the Bayesian networks, here we choose to use the Bayesian network approach to describe the problems. This is to achieve unified presentation, and to illustrate how these problems appear from the perspective of iterative methods. Wherever appropriate we point out some key issues related to applying iterative methods to these problems.

5.1 REDUCING THE COMPLEXITY IN SOFT DETECTION AND DECODING

Looking at RAKE-type receivers, which employ a bank of correlator fingers to utilize the multipath diversity, the filter bank outputs in the downlink of a WCDMA system are given by

$$y_i^{(l)} = \sum_{k=1}^K \sum_{j=1}^N \sum_{p=1}^L \rho(i,l,j,p,k) h_j^{(p)} x_{jk} , \qquad (22)$$



Figure 11 Bayesian network for CDMA downlink system model with two users and known channel coefficients

where $\rho(i, l, p, j, k)$ is the correlation between different symbols and users in different paths, $h_j^{(p)}$ are the channel coefficients for *p*th path, and x_{ik} is the coded information symbol for user *k* that is generated by some encoder e.g. via a state machine

$$\begin{cases} s_{ik} = g(s_{i-1,k}, u_{ik}) \\ x_{jk} = f(s_{ik}) \end{cases}$$
(23)

As stated earlier, the detection and decoding problem for a mobile receiver in this context can be regarded as a problem of probabilistic inference in a Bayesian network. In the downlink with multipath propagation, the signals traveling via different paths are misaligned in time and *interpath interference* is introduced even when orthogonal codes are used for different users. Thus there is interference both between different users as well as between different symbols. The resulting Bayesian network is shown in Figure 11. For simplicity, the channel coefficients are assumed to be deterministic and thus not included in the Bayesian network. The case where channel coefficients are considered as random variables is discussed later. In this case however,



Figure 12 Bayesian network for a CDMA downlink model for one user when interference is modelled by Gaussian approximation and channel coefficients are known

the limited processing power of a mobile terminal does not allow the use of iterative methods considered for coded multiuser detection in Section 4, especially given the interference levels that are much smaller than for uplink MAI, which implies less achievable gain.

One alternative is to ignore the interdependencies between the subsequent symbols. The model is thus simplified to the one in Figure 12. As a result, the interpath interference is modeled as independent Gaussian interference. In fact this is a multi-path variant of the well-known Gaussian approximation. This approach may be used to derive improved RAKE receivers with moderate complexity.

In the previous discussion the channel coefficients have been assumed known for simplicity. Now we need to deal with those explicitly as random variables. Thus we add them in Figure 12, which results in the Bayesian network shown in Figure 13. Notice that the channel coefficients are assumed to be uncorrelated between different paths, but correlated in time. Although the resulting network looks relatively simple, it results in significant complexity increase when the sum-product algorithm is applied to the network. This is due to the fact that the channel coefficients are continuous-valued random variables while the other random variables in the network (with



Figure 13 Bayesian network for a CDMA downlink model for one user when interference is modelled by Gaussian approximation and channel coefficients are unknown

the exception of the additive white Gaussian noise variables which are typically treated implicitly in the sum-product algorithm) are discrete valued.

This has a deep impact since the marginalisation step, which plays a key role in the sum-product algorithm, requires an integral to be calculated over random variables. For discrete random variables this reduces to a summation over the value range of the variable, but for continuous variables there is no simple way to do this. See [Fre98] for a review on sum-product algorithm in mixed networks containing both continuous- and discrete-valued random variables. Other approaches, which do not use Bayesian networks, can naturally also be applied, such as the blind linear equalization for CDMA downlink proposed in [SIG00].

It should be observed that for the continuous-valued random variables representing the channel noise and interference, these problems can be avoided by incorporating these variables into the matched filter outputs $y_i^{(l)}$. Thus the $y_i^{(l)}$'s become continuous-valued, but this does not cause the problems mentioned above, since these are the *observed* random variables. We will use a similar approach to deal with the channel coefficients. Furthermore we will assume perfect interleaving and subsequently assume that the channel coefficients are uncorrelated. This results in a Bayesian



Figure 14 Bayesian network for a CDMA downlink model with perfect interleaving for one user when interference is modelled by Gaussian approximation and channel coefficients are unknown

network shown in Figure 14. It should be noted that this network is in fact singly-connected. Thus the sum-product algorithm is reduced to symbol metric generation followed by the application of a SISO decoder. If only hard decisions are required for information bits, the SISO decoder may be replaced with a soft decision Viterbi decoder. Thus the emphasis is on the symbol metric generation problem.

This approach of having a symbol metric generation followed by a Viterbi decoder has been used in the publications [P4]-[P6] to derive an improved RAKE receiver with a moderate complexity. In the next section we discuss these and other improver RAKE receivers that can be utilized in symbol metric generation for soft decoders.

5.2 SYMBOL METRIC GENERATION FOR SOFT DECISION DECODERS

In CDMA systems, the metric is usually generated from the output of the RAKE receiver ([Pro95]), where the signals propagating through different paths are received in individual fingers of the RAKE receiver. The outputs from these fingers are then coherently combined to provide the detected signal. The combining algorithm commonly used in CDMA RAKE receivers is the

conventional maximal ratio combining (MRC) algorithm, which is known to produce maximal signal-to-noise ratio for diversity channels with equal noise powers and perfect channel estimates. However, when receiving a signal through a multipath channel from a base station, a large part of the noise in the RAKE finger output is due to the interference between the signals propagating through different paths [HHT97], [HJL99].

The original MRC combining scheme by Brennan can be extended in many ways to take this *inter-path-interference* into account. In [TSW00] both an optimum and suboptimum combining scheme for RAKE receivers in DS-CDMA systems are proposed. The optimum combining requires the inversion of the interference-plus-noise covariance matrix, while the suboptimal approach only utilizes noise and interferer powers. In [BOW00] a generalized RAKE receiver is proposed, where the weights are derived from a maximum likelihood formulation.

In the research constituting the second part of this thesis, methods similar to the suboptimal approach in [TSW00] are independently proposed. However, the derivations are performed in a different manner using the ideas presented in Section 5.1. This allows consideration of additional issues such as eventual channel estimation errors and non-constant amplitude modulation schemes. In the remainder of this section we shall briefly discuss the approach used.

Consider a RAKE receiver for a CDMA system. As was mentioned above, the actual noise power varies between the fingers depending on the multipath component magnitudes and the number of interfering users. This means that in practice different RAKE fingers have unequal interference powers and thus the metric derived from the conventional MRC output will not produce the correct path metrics for the maximum-likelihood decoder even if the interference is assumed to be Gaussian. On the other hand the original MRC algorithm derived by Brennan [Bre59] is optimal for combining diversity branches with Gaussian noise having unequal noise powers in different branches. In Brennan's scheme, each combining weight is inversely proportional to the noise power of the diversity branch. Thus the implementation of this scheme requires estimates of these noise powers. In addition the channel estimation errors are not taken into account. Using the approach presented in Section 5.1 we can derive an improved RAKE receiver that takes all these issues into account. This was done in [P4], [P5] and [P6] without explicitly using the Bayesian network approach taken here.

Mobile systems are currently evolving to satisfy increasing demands on packet-data services, in particular the need for higher bit rates [NBK00], [FPR01]. In GSM for instance, the EDGE standardization is currently under development to provide faster packet-data services [3GPPb]. In

the currently completed version (Release 99) of the wideband CDMA (WCDMA) specification, the technology used in the third generation mobile systems, high data rates are realized using low spreading factors, e.g. spreading factor G=4 for 2 Mbps data rate. Recently there have been many studies on the evolution of the WCDMA air interface beyond the original requirements, such as the high-speed downlink packet access (HSDPA), which is aiming at high peak data rates and low overall delays [PDF01], and which will be included in the next version (Release 5) of the specification [3GPPa]. The HSDPA utilizes fast link adaptation, where the modulation size and the rate of the channel encoder are adapted to track the variations of the radio channel. In practice the data will be transferred using a higher order modulation (e.g. QAM) and a smaller amount of channel encoding when the channel quality is good.

In order to obtain satisfactory performance with low spreading factors and high-order modulation schemes advanced CDMA receiver structures are needed. One way to improve the performance is to utilize the receiver structure using soft metric generation followed by a soft-decision decoder as discussed above. It is well known that the use of soft decision decoding can offer a significant performance gain in fading channels [Pro95, p. 813]. This approach is studied in detail in [P5].

6 SUMMARY OF PUBLICATIONS

This section gives a summary of the publications constituting this thesis. These publications result from research on soft detection and decoding. First part of the research focuses on coded multiuser detection in the CDMA base station and second part on the reception in a mobile terminal. Publications [P1], [P2] and [P3] contain the results of the research work related to the coded multiuser detection and are discussed in Section 6.1. Since none of these publications contains a general overview, we explain also the research work done in more detail. The second part of the research considers improved RAKE-based reception in the mobile terminal employing soft detection. Publications [P4], [P5] and [P6] contain the results of that research and are discussed in Section 6.2. Since Bayesian networks are not explicitly used in the publications, we describe here, how they were used in the development of the algorithms presented in the publications. The general approach was to develop the initial idea for the receiver structure using Bayesian networks, after which the detailed derivation of the various components in the receivers, such as the likelihood calculation algorithms, was done with other methods.

6.1 RECEIVERS USING ITERATIVE DECODING WITH INTERFERENCE CANCELLATION

The first part of this thesis consists of research studying the use of iterative receivers in coded multiuser detection. This research is reported in Publications [P1]-[P3]. The starting point for this research was to utilize methods that are used for Turbo decoding. The recently discovered connection between Turbo decoding and sum-product algorithm in Bayesian networks [MMC98] suggested that Bayesian networks could be utilized in the development of the iterative algorithm structure instead of some ad hoc arguments. This approach became gradually the general approach taken in this thesis.

However, the sum-product algorithm can be relatively complex for general single-connected Bayesian networks. Since the goal was to have an algorithm that has a manageable complexity the iterative receiver structure needed to be selected carefully. There are some known Bayesian network structures, where the sum-product algorithm reduces to an algorithm that has a manageable complexity. The two main cases of interest here are:

- A simple star-like structure where the sum-product algorithm reduces to likelihood calculations with closed expressions (e.g. Figure 4).
- A chain-like structure that allows the use of backward-forward algorithm (e.g. Figure 5). This kind of structure typically arises from channel coding and this algorithm is in that case the well-known APP decoder.

If the Bayesian network presenting the problem can be partitioned to components that have one of the given structures, one can approximate the sum-product algorithm by iteratively executing the simplified algorithm in the component graphs and by exchanging the probability information through the random variables common to the components. It should be emphasized that the accuracy or even the convergence of this kind of iterative approximation has not yet been proven although there is a strong body of experimental evidence to suggest that the approximation is good [MMC98].

6.1.1 Use of Bayesian networks in basic algorithm design

After the general approach was clear the first step in the actual research work was to formulate the coded multiuser detection problem. With the notation of [P1], this problem can be described in a symbol level system model as

$$\mathbf{y}_i = \mathbf{R}\mathbf{A}\mathbf{x}_i + \mathbf{n}_i, \qquad (24)$$

where **R** is the cross correlation matrix, **A** is the amplitude matrix, **n**_i is the channel noise term and $\mathbf{x}_i = (x_i^{(1)}, \mathsf{K}, x_i^{(K)})^{\mathsf{T}}$ is the coded data vector containing the transmitted data symbols of every users. For every user it is an output from some encoding process that can be expressed by a state machine:

$$\begin{cases} s_{j}^{(k)} = g(s_{j-1}^{(k)}, u_{j}^{(k)}) \\ x_{Rj+l}^{(k)} = f_{l}(s_{j}^{(k)}), l = 1, \mathsf{K}, \mathsf{R} \end{cases}$$
(25)

Given the random variables in the system model, one can construct the corresponding Bayesian network. The resulting full graph is too complex to be presented here in detail. In some specific cases even the full graph is simple enough to be presented. For instance the graph corresponding the case with two users and rate ½ code is shown in Figure 10. A high-level view of the general case, which is used as a basis for partitioning the graph into suitable components, is shown in Figure 15.

The general-case Bayesian network can be constructed from component graphs of two different types: type A shown in detail in Figure 16 and type B shown in Figure 17. The partitioning of the full Bayesian network into these components is also shown in Figure 15. There is one component graph of type A for every user *k* consisting of the uncoded data symbols $u_j^{(k)}$, the state variables $s_j^{(k)}$ and the transmitted data symbols $x_i^{(k)}$. There is one component graph of type B for every received symbol consisting of the received symbol $y_i^{(k)}$ together with the transmitted data symbols of all the users $x_i^{(k)}$. Note that the transmitted data symbols $x_i^{(k)}$ are included in both component graph types.

Given this partitioning into component graphs we can now approximate the sum-product algorithm by executing the algorithm in the component graphs, exchanging the probability information through the common variables $x_i^{(k)}$ in different component graphs and by reiterating the process. However, first we need to investigate what the sum-product algorithm looks like in the component graphs of type A and B.



Figure 15 Graph of the general case coded MUD with partitioning





Figure 17 Component graph of Type B

Sum-product algorithm for graphs of Type A

In essence, the sum-product algorithm calculates the probabilities $p(u_i^{(k)})$ (and new estimates for $p(x_i^{(k)})$ if necessary) given the probabilities of the transmitted data symbols $p(x_i^{(k)})$ and the knowledge of the encoder state machine expressed by (25). It is based on passing two types of messages between the nodes representing the random variables, the "likelihood" messages λ and

the "probability" messages π (See Figure 16). In the case of a chain-like structure of Type A, messages are first passed from the nodes representing the transmitted symbols $x_i^{(k)}$ and the user symbols $u_j^{(k)}$ to the nodes representing the state variables $s_j^{(k)}$. In the second state, a sequence of messages is passed both forward and backward in the "chain" consisting of the nodes representing the state symbols. Finally, messages are passed from state variable nodes to nodes representing the transmitted symbols $x_i^{(k)}$ and the user symbols $u_j^{(k)}$. The probabilities $p(u_i^{(k)})$ (and $p(x_i^{(k)})$ if necessary) can be calculated using the content of these messages. This is in essence the generalized forward-backward algorithm.

Next we describe the content of the messages and the calculations done in each node in more detail. In general, given some random variables *X* and *Y*, where *Y* is dependent on *X*, the message λ from *Y* to *X* contains a list of nonnegative number indexed by the value range of *X*. If *x* is a variable taking values in the range of *X*, then the likelihood message is often denoted by $\lambda(Y \rightarrow X)(x)$. Informally it is the probability of the "evidence" for the node representing *Y* conditioned on *X*=*x*. Similarly, the message π from *X* to *Y* contains a list of probabilities. It is indexed by the value range of *X* and denoted by $\pi(X \rightarrow Y)(x)$, where *x* is the indexing variable. Roughly, for each *x* this is the probability of the event *X*=*x* conditioned on the "evidence" in the tree "behind" the random variable that originates the message.

Looking at a Type A graph in Figure 16, the following messages are passed. The message $\lambda(x_{Rj+l}^{(k)} \rightarrow s_j^{(k)})(s)$ from node $x_{Rj+l}^{(k)}$ to node $s_j^{(k)}$ is $\lambda(x_{Rj+l}^{(k)} \rightarrow s_j^{(k)})(s) = p(x_{Rj+l}^{(k)} = f_l(s))$ for all possible values of *s*. This can be calculated from the probability distributions $p(x_{Rj+l}^{(k)})$ originating from component graph B, since f_l is known.

Similarly, the message $\pi(u_j^{(k)} \to s_j^{(k)})(u)$ from $u_j^{(k)}$ to $s_j^{(k)}$ is the probability of the event $u_j^{(k)} = u$ conditioned on the "evidence" in the tree "behind" $u_j^{(k)}$. This is in fact just the *a priori* probability. Thus we have $\pi(u_j^{(k)} \to s_j^{(k)})(u) = p(u_j^{(k)} = u)$.

Moving to the more complicated cases, the message $\lambda(s_{j+1}^{(k)} \to s_j^{(k)})(s)$ from $s_{j+1}^{(k)}$ to $s_j^{(k)}$ is the marginalized probability

$$\lambda(s_{j+1}^{(k)} \to s_j^{(k)})(s) = \sum_{u} p(u_{j+1}^{(k)} = u)\lambda(s_{j+2}^{(k)} \to s_{j+1}^{(k)})(g(s,u))\prod_{l} p(x_{R(j+1)+l}^{(k)} = f_l(g(s,u))$$
(26)

$$=\sum_{u}\pi(u_{j+1}^{(k)}\to s_{j+1}^{(k)})(u)\lambda(s_{j+2}^{(k)}\to s_{j+1}^{(k)})(g(s,u))\prod_{l}\lambda(x_{R(j+1)+l}^{(k)}\to s_{j+1}^{(k)})(f_{l}(g(s,u)))$$

for all possible values of *s*. Thus this is effectively calculated from $p(x_{j+1}^{(k)}), \bot, p(x_N^{(k)})$ and the *a* priori probabilities $p(u_{j+1}^{(k)}), \bot, p(u_N^{(k)})$ in a recursive manner.

Correspondingly, a message $\pi(s_{j-1}^{(k)} \to s_j^{(k)})(s)$ passed from $s_{j-1}^{(k)}$ to $s_j^{(k)}$. Again, for each *s* this is the probability of the event $s_{j-1}^{(k)} = s$ conditioned on the "evidence" in the tree "behind" $s_{j-1}^{(k)}$. Thus we obtain

$$\pi(s_{j-1}^{(k)} \to s_{j}^{(k)})(s) = \sum_{s', u: g(s', u) = s} p(u_{j-1}^{(k)} = u) p(s_{j-2}^{(k)} = s') \prod_{l} p(x_{R(j-1)+l}^{(k)} = f_{l}(s))$$

$$= \sum_{s', u: g(s', u) = s} \pi(u_{j-1}^{(k)} \to s_{j-1}^{(k)})(u) \lambda(s_{j-2}^{(k)} \to s_{j-1}^{(k)})(s') \prod_{l} \lambda(x_{Rj+l}^{(k)} \to s_{j-1}^{(k)})(f_{l}(s))$$
(27)

for all possible values of *s*. Thus this is effectively calculated from $p(x_1^{(k)}), \bot, p(x_{j-1}^{(k)})$ and the *a priori* probabilities $p(u_1^{(k)}), \bot, p(u_{j-1}^{(k)})$ in a recursive manner.

After both the forward and the backward message passing phases have completed, the likelihood message $\lambda(s_j^{(k)} \to u_j^{(k)})(u)$ can be transmitted from $s_j^{(k)}$ to $u_j^{(k)}$. This can be calculated as

(28)

$$\lambda(s_{j}^{(k)} \to u_{j}^{(k)})(u) = \sum_{s} \pi(s_{j-1}^{(k)} \to s_{j}^{(k)})(s)\lambda(s_{j+1}^{(k)} \to s_{j}^{(k)})(g(s,u))\prod_{l} \lambda(x_{R(j+1)+l}^{(k)} \to s_{j}^{(k)})(f_{l}(g(u,s)))$$

The symbol probabilities can now be calculated as $p(u_i^{(k)}) = \lambda(s_j^{(k)} \rightarrow u_j^{(k)})(u_i^{(k)})$.

In iterative receiver we also need to update the probabilities $p(x_i^{(k)})$. These are updated based on the message $\pi(s_j^{(k)} \to x_{R(j+1)+l}^{(k)})(s)$ transmitted from $s_j^{(k)}$ to $x_{R(j+1)+l}^{(k)}$. The content of this message is

$$\pi(s_{j}^{(k)} \to x_{(Rj+1)+l}^{(k)})(s) = \sum_{s',u:g(s',u)=s} \pi(u_{j}^{(k)} \to s_{j}^{(k)})(u)\pi(s_{j-1}^{(k)} \to s_{j}^{(k)})(s')\lambda(s_{j+1}^{(k)} \to s_{j}^{(k)})(s)\prod_{l'\neq l}\lambda(x_{R(j+1)+l'}^{(k)} \to s_{j}^{(k)})(f_{l'}(s))$$

The symbol probabilities can be calculated as

$$p(x_{R(j+1)+l}^{(k)}) = \sum_{s:f_l(s)=x_{R(j+1)+l}^{(k)}} \pi(s_j^{(k)} \to x_{(Rj+1)+l}^{(k)})(s).$$
(30)

(29)

The formulas above are in fact equivalent to the calculations done in *a posteriori* probability (APP) decoding algorithm also called maximum *a posteriori* (MAP) decoding algorithm. Furthermore, in this case the sum-product algorithm with the given message passing scheduling is actually functionally equivalent to APP decoding algorithm [MMC98]. Thus the calculation can in practice be done by using the APP decoding algorithm.

Sum-product algorithm for graphs of Type B

In the component graph of Type B the sum-product algorithm effectively calculates the probability $p(y_i | x_i^{(k)})$. Following the steps in the sum-product algorithm, then messages

$$\pi(x_i^{(h)} \to y_i^{(k)})(x) = p(x_i^{(h)} = x)$$
(31)

are first transmitted to the node $y_i^{(k)}$ for all $h \neq k$. The message transmitted to node $x_i^{(k)}$ is

$$\lambda(y_i^{(k)} \to x_i^{(k)})(x) = \sum_{\mathbf{x}_i: x_i^{(k)} = x} p(y_i^{(k)} \mid \mathbf{x}_i) \prod_{h \neq k} \pi(x_i^{(k)} \to y_i^{(k)})(x_i^{(h)})$$

$$= \sum_{\mathbf{x}_i: x_i^{(k)} = x} p(y_i^{(k)} \mid \mathbf{x}_i) \prod_{h \neq k} p(x_i^{(h)}).$$
(32)

If the observed value for $y_i^{(k)}$ is y_0 , then the message transmitted to node $x_i^{(k)}$ is thus

$$\lambda(y_i^{(k)} \to x_i^{(k)})(x) = p(y_i = y_0 \mid x_i^{(k)} = x).$$
(33)

Note that Equation (12) in [P1] is essentially just the Equation (32) for log-likelihood ratios. The new value for the probability $p(x_i^{(k)})$ that is passed to component graphs of Type A can be calculated recursively as

$$p(x_i^{(k)}) = p(y_i = y_0 \mid x_i^{(k)}) p(x_i^{(k)}) = \lambda(y_i^{(k)} \to x_i^{(k)})(x) p(x_i^{(k)}).$$
(34)

Basic Iterative Algorithm used in [P1]-[P3]

Now we can combine the two algorithms to obtain the basic iterative algorithm used in [P1]-[P3]. The random variables $x_i^{(k)}$ are the common variables both component graph types and we obtain an approximate algorithm for calculating $p(u_i^{(k)} | y_i^{(k)})$ as follows:

- 1. Set the probabilities $p(x_i^{(k)})$ to some initial value, e.g. $\frac{1}{2}$.
- From the observed values for y_i calculate the p(y_i^(k) | x_i^(k)) in component graphs of type
 B. In practice Equation (32) is used. In the publications [P1]-[P3] also suboptimal variants of this calculation are used. See Section 6.1.2 for more discussion on these.
- 3. Update $p(x_i^{(k)})$ by Equation (34) and pass this to the component graphs of type A. Calculate $p(u_i^{(k)})$ and $p(x_i^{(k)})$ with APP decoding algorithm.
- 4. Go to step 2 and use the new estimate for $p(x_i^{(k)})$. Iterate this as long as necessary.

Thus we have obtained a moderate complexity iterative algorithm Looking at the reference CDMA receiver structure in Figure 3, the soft information is passed a reference points A and D. In reference point E soft or hard information can be used, although in the simulations hard decisions were made at this point an the resulting bit error rate (BER) was calculated. In this study, convolutional coding was assumed and thus there were no constituent decoders or reference points B and C. However, it is straightforward to extend this work to systems using Turbo codes.

In this section we have described how Bayesian networks was utilized to develop and understand the iterative coded multiuser receiver studied in publications [P1]-[P3]. In the next section we summarize the research work done for this topic.

6.1.2 Summary of the research performed on coded multiuser detection

The starting point of the research reported in publications [P1]-[P3] was the iterative algorithm discussed in Section 6.1.1. Several further developments took place during the research activity. These are summarized in this section.

As was mentioned in Section 6.1.1 the sum-product algorithm for Bayesian network in Figure 16 is functionally equivalent the well-known APP (also known as MAP) algorithm [MCC98]. Thus the basic iterative receiver structure can be described using the APP decoder and likelihood calculation formula without explicitly mentioning Bayesian networks. This approach was taken first in [P1] and later as a general approach in this study. The main rationale behind this decision was that using commonly known techniques in the publications made those both simpler and easier to understand for an average reader. One major factor impacting this decision was the lack of any theoretical results regarding the convergence of iterative approximation for sum-product algorithm.

The graph in Figure 17 is so simple that the sum-product algorithm results a closed-from expression. Nevertheless, the calculation of summation in Equation (32) is still relatively complex to be implemented in a base station receiver. Thus in [P1] two suboptimal alternatives were proposed. The hard decision likelihood calculation was derived by approximation the logarithm of the sum by the maximum of the logarithms; a common method used in both Turbo decoding and Bayesian networks [BDM96]. In essence, the following approximation is used.

$$\log \lambda(y_{i}^{(k)} \to x_{i}^{(k)})(x) = \log \left(\sum_{\mathbf{x}_{i}:x_{i}^{(k)}=x} p(y_{i}^{(k)} \mid \mathbf{x}_{i}) \prod_{h \neq k} p(x_{i}^{(h)}) \right)$$

$$\approx \max_{\mathbf{x}_{i}:x_{i}^{(k)}=x} \left(\log p(y_{i}^{(k)} \mid \mathbf{x}_{i}) + \sum_{h \neq k} \log p(x_{i}^{(h)}) \right).$$
(35)

Assuming that we have a very reliable estimate $\hat{\mathbf{x}}_i$ and thus $P(\hat{\mathbf{x}}_i) \approx 1$, then the max-log approximation in (35) results

$$\log \lambda(y_i^{(k)} \to x_i^{(k)})(x) \approx \begin{cases} \log p(y_i^{(k)} | \hat{\mathbf{x}}_i), & \text{if } \hat{x}_i^{(k)} = x \\ -\infty, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(36)

When this approximation is used log $p(y_i^{(k)} | \hat{\mathbf{x}}_i)$ is calculated as follows:

$$\log p(y_i^{(k)} | \hat{\mathbf{x}}_i) = \frac{1}{2\sigma^2} \left(y_i^{(k)} - \left(\mathbf{R} \mathbf{A} \hat{\mathbf{x}}_i \right)^{(k)} \right) + \text{constant}.$$
⁽³⁷⁾

Thus this approximation is in fact hard decision interference cancellation followed by likelihood calculation for an AWGN channel with variance σ^2 .

The second alternative is otherwise the same as the previous one, but it uses the expectation value of the transmitted channel symbol instead of the hard decision value in the likelihood calculation. In the binary case using log-likelihood ratios, this is just a hyperbolic tangent of a scaled log-likelihood ratio for the transmitted channel symbol.

For all these likelihood calculation methods an estimate of channel variance is needed for the calculation of the distribution of $y_i^{(k)}$, which is the only continuous random variable in the Bayesian network describing the system model. Theoretically, an estimate of the variance σ^2 should be used. During the simulations done for [P1] and [P2] it became evident that the convergence speed of the suboptimal alternatives can be substantially increased if a larger value is used for this estimate during the first simulation steps. This kind of behavior is typical to approximate iterative methods and the only difficulty is usually to determine the correct rate of decreasing the value. Since both suboptimal algorithms can be expressed by an interference cancellation step followed by a likelihood calculation step, it was natural to use the variance of the modified samples after each interference cancellation. The simulations showed that with this modification, even the hard decision interference cancellation performance was close to optimal likelihood calculation performance. This was one of the key findings reported in [P1].

In [P1], a simple averaging was used to obtain the variance estimate. Naturally some more advanced estimation methods could increase the performance gain. Since the variance reestimation had a significant impact on the performance of the suboptimal algorithms, this was investigated further in [P2]. It was found that the use of improved variance estimation method taken from [RA97] slightly improved the convergence of the hard decision IC algorithm.

In addition to the increased complexity, the main difficulty in using iterative joint multiuser receivers - or IC receivers with decoded tentative decisions - in fading channels is the prohibitively long delay caused by the interleaved channel codes. Currently interleaving is virtually always used in channel codes designed for fading channels, because it is a relatively simple method to obtain the required time diversity. However, in order to obtain this time diversity, the interleaving block length must be substantially longer than the channel coherence time. On the other hand, the whole interleaving block must be received before the iterative detection/decoding process can take place. This means that there is a significant delay between the actual reception of the signal and the actual availability of the receiver symbol. This is

unacceptable for delay-sensitive applications, but it is really catastrophic for fast power control, which is used in wideband CDMA systems. The operation of the fast power control requires the transmission power to be adjusted based on the received power control (PC) bit. This needs to be done with a reasonably low delay and the delay induced by the iterative joint detection/decoding is just unacceptable high.

One way to reduce the delay is to utilize a coding scheme, which is a concatenation of an inner non-interleaved code and an outer interleaved code for coded multiuser detection. In this approach only the inner code would be used in the multiuser detection and the delay between the symbol reception and the availability of the detected symbols would be reduced. This observation motivated the work reported in [P3], where we estimated the capacity of such CDMA receivers when operating over a correlated Rayleigh fading channel. The analysis shows that interleaving is not necessary for good *interference cancellation* performance even in correlated fading channels. In fact, in a correlated Rayleigh fading channel, the performance of an IC receiver using decoded tentative decisions and a relatively weak non-interleaved code will be near the single-user performance limit.

Even with this approach, there are significant system level problems for current WCDMA system (UTRAN FDD mode) specified by 3GPP, where the channel decoding is done for blocks that have duration a multiple of 10ms, but the power control command is sent for each slot, that is, once for every 666 μ s [3GPPc]. Thus from system perspective even this approach is not feasible unless significant changes are made for layer 1 structure in UTRAN FDD mode. At the moment this does not seem feasible.

One remaining possibility is to apply the coded multiuser detection only for WCDMA data channel, not for the control channel where the power control bits are transmitted. This approach is not studied further in this thesis.

6.2 SOFT-OUTPUT RAKE RECEIVERS FOR CDMA MOBILE TERMINALS

In papers [P4], [P5] and [P6] we study the performance improvement achieved by using soft decision and decoding techniques in CDMA downlink. As for the base station receivers, the detection and decoding problem for mobile receiver can also be regarded as a problem of probabilistic inference in a Bayesian network. In the downlink the channelisation codes for different users are orthogonal, but with multipath propagation, the signals traveling via different paths are misaligned in time and *interpath interference* is introduced even when orthogonal codes are used for different users. Thus there is interference both between different users as well as

between different symbols. In this case however, the limited processing power of a mobile terminal does not allow the use of iterative methods considered for coded multiuser detection in Section 4, especially given the lower achievable gain implied by the interference levels that are much smaller than for uplink MAI.

Based on the above considerations a different starting point was selected for this part of research and the interfering users were modeled as Gaussian noise in the Bayesian network. The aim was to derive receivers that take into account channel estimation errors, do not require variance estimation and that also are suitable for higher modulation schemes.

6.2.1 Use of Bayesian networks in basic algorithm design

The symbol level system model from [P5] is

$$y_{i}(n) = h_{i}(n)x(n) + w_{i}(n),$$
 (38)

where $h_l(n)$ are the channel coefficients, $w_l(n)$ is the combined channel noise and interference with variance σ_l^2 , and x(n) is the coded channel symbol obtained from

$$\begin{cases} s_j = g(s_j, u_j) \\ x(Rj+l) = f_l(s_j), l = 1, \mathsf{K}, \mathsf{R} \end{cases}$$
(39)

The resulting Bayesian network is shown in Figure 18. Note that this graph is not multiplyconnected and thus the sum-product results the exact probabilities. Nevertheless, partitioning the graph into simpler components is still useful to identify the appropriate receiver structure.

In the same way as for the uplink coded multiuser detection, this graph can be partitioned into the chain-like component of Type A arising from channel coding shown in Figure 19 and the likelihood calculation component shown in Figure 20.



Figure 18 Bayesian network presenting the downlink system model



Figure 19 Chain-like component of Type A in downlink model



Figure 20 Likelihood calculation component graph in downlink model

Since the component graph in Figure 19 is of Type A, the APP decoding can again be used to calculate the probabilities. However, the message passing between the components is in this case only one-way and thus the resulting receiver structure is non-iterative. Looking at the reference CDMA receiver structure, this corresponds to a case where no information is passed at reference point D and soft information is passed at reference point A and hard information in reference point E. Again there are no constituent decoders and thus reference points B and C do not exist. As a result the channel decoder does not need to provide soft output. Thus any soft decision decoding algorithm is applicable. In publications [P4]-[P6] the Viterbi algorithm was used in the simulations to achieve low complexity.

For the component graph shown in Figure 20 the most significant feature is that there is message passing between $h_l(n)$'s and the corresponding $y_l(n)$'s, which are both continuous-valued random variables. This creates some difficulties since the corresponding message $\pi(h_l(n) \rightarrow y_l(n))(h)$ lists a non-negative real value for every possible value of the random variable. The problem is how to handle these infinite lists in the practical implementation of the algorithm. Furthermore, the summations in the sum-product algorithm become integrations for continuous-valued random variables, which complicates the situation even more. This can be seen in message $\lambda(y_l(n) \rightarrow x(n))(x)$, which can be expressed as
$$\lambda(y_{l}(n) \to x(n))(x) = \int \pi(h_{l}(n) \to x(n))(h) \, p(y_{l}(n) \mid h_{l}(n) = h, x(n) = x) \, dh \,. \tag{40}$$

Finally, we also need to take into account the channel estimates $\hat{h}_l(n)$ available in the receiver when calculating the likelihoods. Two alternative approaches for doing this were used in this study.

In [P4] and [P6] we pass a list containing only one entry $\pi(h_l \to y_l) = \{\hat{h}_l(n)\}$. With only this information available, the random variable $h_l(n)$ is effectively treated as an observed variable. We obtain

$$\lambda(y_{l}(n) \to x(n))(x) = p(y_{l}(n) | h_{l}(n) = \hat{h}_{l}(n), x(n) = x)$$

$$= \frac{1}{\pi \sigma_{l}^{2}} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{\sigma_{l}^{2}} |y_{l}(n) - \hat{h}_{l}(n)x|^{2}\right)$$
(41)

In the Viterbi decoder implementing the algorithm for component graph in Figure 19, these likelihood messages are used to calculate the conditional probabilities $p(\mathbf{y}(n) | x(n)) = \prod_{l} \lambda(y_{l}(n) \rightarrow x(n))(x(n))$ required in Viterbi decoding. As a result we obtain

that the input for the Viterbi decoder is

$$p(\mathbf{y}(n) \mid x(n)) = \prod_{l} \frac{1}{\pi \sigma_{l}^{2}} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{\sigma_{l}^{2}} \left| y_{l}(n) - \hat{h}_{l}(n) x(n) \right|^{2}\right).$$
(42)

This formula is a special case of Equation (16) in [P5], when $\sigma_{z_l}^2 = 0$. Following the same reasoning as in Section 3.3 in [P5] and defining *F* as an arbitrary positive real constant, we can conclude that for constant-amplitude modulation schemes this probability can be expressed as a transformation of metric

$$\Lambda(\mathbf{y}(n) \mid x(n)) = \operatorname{Re}\left\{\sum_{l} \frac{F\hat{h}_{l}(n)^{*}}{\sigma_{l}^{2}} y_{l}(n) x(n)^{*}\right\},\tag{43}$$

which is obtaining through the use of conventional RAKE receiver with Brennan's MRC scheme. In practice this means that for constant-amplitude modulation schemes the metric (43) can be used as the input for the Viterbi decoder. Using this connection between the probabilities and the MRC one can derive new enhanced MRC schemes using the results obtained by considering Bayesian networks. This was the approach taken for [P4] and [P6].

When this method is used, any channel estimation error is propagated to the likelihood calculation in node representing $y_i(n)$. In [P6] we used the assumption that the channel estimates are perfect for the analysis and simulations. In the scheme proposed in [P4], these estimation errors are taken into account in the likelihood calculation by treating the channel estimation error in the same way as the noise-and-interference terms $w_i(n)$'s. This can be done when a constant-amplitude modulation scheme is used.

In [P5] we take a different approach and pass the observed mean value $\hat{h}_l(n)$ of the channel coefficient together with an estimate of the variance to the node representing $y_l(n)$'s. This means that the message is $\pi(h_l(n) \rightarrow y_l(n)) = \{\hat{h}_l(n), \sigma_{z_l}^2\}$. For brevity of the notation we define in the following $\pi = \pi(h_l(n) \rightarrow y_l(n))$. The channel coefficients $h_l(n)$ are assumed to be complex Gaussian random variables, and either by directly integrating (40) or by using the same reasoning as in [P5] we obtain:

$$\lambda(y_{l}(n) \to x(n))(x) =$$

$$\frac{1}{\pi} \frac{1}{|x|^{2} \pi(2) + \sigma_{l}^{2}} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{|x|^{2} \pi(2) + \sigma_{l}^{2}} |y_{l}(n) - \pi(1)x|^{2}\right).$$
(44)

As before, in the Viterbi decoder implementing the algorithm for component graph in Figure 19, these likelihood messages are used to calculate the conditional probabilities required in Viterbi decoding as

$$p(\mathbf{y}_{l} \mid x(n)) = \prod_{l} \lambda(y_{l}(n) \to x(n))(x(n))$$

$$= \prod_{l} \frac{1}{\pi} \frac{1}{|x(n)|^{2} \pi(2) + \sigma_{l}^{2}} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{|x(n)|^{2} \pi(2) + \sigma_{l}^{2}} |y_{l}(n) - \pi(1)x(n)|^{2}\right)$$

$$= \prod_{l} \frac{1}{\pi} \frac{1}{|x(n)|^{2} \sigma_{z_{l}}^{2} + \sigma_{l}^{2}} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{|x(n)|^{2} \sigma_{z_{l}}^{2} + \sigma_{l}^{2}} |y_{l}(n) - \hat{h}_{l}(n)x(n)|^{2}\right)$$
(45)

This is the Equation (16) in [P5] presenting the correct input to the Viterbi decoder. In that publication an estimate of variance $\sigma_{z_l}^2$ is obtained by weighting an analytical noise-and-interference power estimate with a estimator diversity factor. This scheme is applicable to all modulation schemes.

6.2.2 Summary of the research performed on soft-output RAKE receivers

The starting point for this research was the considerations discussed in Section 6.2.1. Again, the approach was not to use Bayesian network approach explicitly in the publications in order to simplify the derivations. However, these considerations played a major role when developing the initial algorithms.

In [P4] we proposed a modified maximal ratio combining (MRC) scheme that is more suitable for RAKE receivers in wideband code division multiple access (WCDMA) mobile terminals then the conventional MRC scheme. In this case Equation (43) was used. The channel estimation errors were taken into account in the likelihood calculation where the channel estimation error was treated in the same way as the noise-and-interference terms $w_l(n)$'s. This approach is possible when a modulation scheme is used that has constant amplitude constellation points. For simplicity of the presentation, the results in [P4] were presented based on Brennan's MRC scheme. In particular, a modified MRC scheme corresponding the results shown in Section 6.2.1 was derived analytically assuming unequal noise powers and imperfect channel estimates in different RAKE fingers.

In [P5] we proposed an improved soft-output RAKE detector providing a more accurate metric in these situations and thus giving a performance gain especially with low spreading gains and high-order modulation schemes. The proposed receiver produces a bit metric for the soft-decision decoder taking into account the multipath fading channel, the interfering users and the channel estimation errors. For this publication Equation (45) was utilized. For simplicity, the results in the publication were derived without explicitly using Bayesian networks. We first formulated the system model containing the transmitter, channel and RAKE correlator finger models. Then we derived the optimum symbol metric based on the system models, assuming that the interference and channel noise are Gaussian distributed and uncorrelated both in time and between the RAKE fingers. The channel estimation errors were assumed to be Gaussian distributed. The optimum metric calculation requires the estimation of the noise variance in different RAKE finger outputs. To make our proposed soft-output RAKE receiver feasible in practice, we used a metric that employs an analytical estimate of the noise variances without requiring explicit noise variance estimation. Finally, we presented simulation results showing that a clear performance gain when low spreading factors or high-order constellations were used.

In [P6] we proposed an improved maximal ratio combining (MRC) scheme for RAKE receivers in Mobile CDMA terminals. It was based on the original MRC scheme derived by Brennan and performed nearly as well as Brennan's method. However, unlike Brennan's method, our improved scheme did not require the estimation of the RAKE finger noise powers. We also analyzed the gain obtained through the use of Brennan's MRC scheme for mobile CDMA terminals, and showed that both the Brennan's original MRC scheme and, more importantly, our improved scheme results in significantly higher signal-to-noise ratios than the conventionally used MRC scheme. Simulations were also presented to further compare the performance of the conventional MRC and our proposed MRC scheme.

6.3 ORIGINALITY AND CONTRIBUTION OF THE PUBLICATIONS

In this section we list these contributions in detail for each publication and summarize the major and minor achievements in the publications constituting this thesis.

In [P1] an iterative receiver structure that utilizes the decoding information for multiuser detection was proposed and analyzed. The receiver structure was suggested by the ideas described in Section 6.1.1. The optimal as well as two suboptimal multiuser likelihood calculation algorithms were presented. Similar approaches had been independently studied in [REA97] and [HSH97]. In [REA97] a different likelihood calculation method was proposed than in [P1]. In [HSH97], which was not known to the author at the time of this research, an IS-95 system was studied and the optimum likelihood calculation similar to the one presented in [P1] was derived along with some suboptimal alternatives. The method for derivation and the suboptimal alternatives were different from those given in [P1]. Furthermore, the impact of variance estimation was not discussed in [HSH97]. Thus the major novel contributions in [P1] were the proposed suboptimal likelihood calculation algorithms utilizing the variance reestimation approach, which significantly improved the performance of the suboptimal algorithms. This approach was discovered through the Bayesian network considerations discussed in Section 6.1. These contributions were novel and previously unpublished.

Since the variance estimation was found to have a significant impact on the suboptimal algorithms in [P2] the impact of different variance estimators was studied. The main contribution in this publication was to show how the more advanced channel variance estimation method presented in [RA97] could be used to improve the suboptimal hard decision algorithm proposed in [P1]. This contribution was novel and not previously reported anywhere.

The work reported in [P3] was motivated by the discovery of the system issues discussed in Section 6.1. The iterative coded multiuser detection with interleaved channel coding causes delays that are problematic especially for fast power control. To evaluate the feasibility of having

a non-interleaved simple inner code that would be used in coded multiuser detection, it was necessary to analyze the interference cancellation performance in correlated Rayleigh channel when such code is used. This was done in [P3].

There were two novel contributions in this publication. First, we derived an iterative way of analytically estimating the amount of noise present at *m*th stage in an interference cancellation (IC) receiver utilizing channel coding. Furthermore, by calculating the error probabilities for non-interleaved codes in correlated Rayleigh channel, we were able to analytically estimate the performance of IC CDMA receivers that are using non-interleaved channel coding to improve the reliability of the tentative decisions. Second, we estimated the performance of such receivers in correlated Rayleigh channels through simulations. Both results were novel and not reported before.

At this point the focus of the research was shifted due to some external circumstances. Thus in [P4], [P5] and [P6] we studied the performance improvement achieved by using soft decision and decoding techniques in CDMA downlink. In this case non-iterative receivers were considered.

In [P4] a modified maximal ratio combining (MRC) scheme was proposed that was based on the ideas described in Section 6.2.1. This scheme is more suitable for RAKE receivers in wideband code division multiple access (WCDMA) mobile terminals than the conventional MRC scheme. The main contribution in this paper was a novel MRC scheme, which takes into account the different noise powers in different fingers in a similar way as the suboptimal scheme proposed in [TSW00], but also takes into account the channel estimation errors.

In [P5] we proposed an improved soft-output RAKE detector that provides a more accurate metric and gives a performance gain especially with low spreading gains and high-order modulation schemes. It was based on the considerations described in Section 6.2.1 and used a bit metric for the soft-decision decoder taking into account the multipath fading channel, the interfering users and the channel estimation errors. The major novel contributions in this publication were the new bit metric for the soft-decision decoder, which is suitable also for higher-order modulation schemes, the method to estimate the noise powers in different fingers based on the channel estimates and an analytical method to estimate channel estimation errors. These results were novel and previously unpublished.

In [P6] we proposed an improved maximal ratio combining (MRC) scheme for RAKE receivers in mobile CDMA terminals. The algorithm was similar to the one presented in [TSW00] and [P4]. However, here the analytical estimate of the noise powers developed in [P5] were used. We also analyzed the gain obtained through the use of Brennan's MRC scheme for mobile CDMA terminals, and showed that both the Brennan's original MRC scheme and, more importantly, our improved scheme results in significantly higher signal-to-noise ratios than the conventionally used MRC scheme. The major contributions in this paper were the use of the analytical estimate of the noise powers needed for the enhanced MRC and the analysis of the MRC schemes. These results were novel and not reported before.

The major achievements in this thesis are the following:

- In [P1], the suboptimal multiuser likelihood algorithms utilizing the variance reestimation approach, which significantly improves the performance of these suboptimal algorithms.
- In [P3], the derivation of an iterative way to analytically estimate the amount of noise present at *m*th stage in a coded interference cancellation (IC) receiver and the analytical estimate of the correlated channel performance of IC CDMA receivers that are using non-interleaved channel coding to improve the reliability of the tentative decisions.
- In [P5], a new bit metric for the soft-decision decoder, which is suitable also for higherorder modulation schemes, the method to estimate the noise powers in different fingers based on the channel estimates and the analytical method to estimate channel estimation errors.
- In [P6] the analysis of the performance of different MRC schemes.

The minor achievements in the thesis are the following:

- The work in [P2] showing how the more advanced channel variance estimation methods presented can be used to improve the suboptimal hard decision algorithm.
- In [P3] the performance simulations of the coded interference cancellation receivers in correlated Rayleigh fading channels.
- In [P4] the enhanced MRC scheme, which takes into account the different noise powers in different RAKE fingers and the channel estimation errors.
- In [P6] the use of the analytical estimate of the noise powers in different RAKE fingers in the enhanced MRC scheme.

6.4 AUTHOR'S CONTRIBUTION TO THE PUBLICATIONS

The author's contribution has been essential to publications [P1]-[P6].

In publication [P1], the author has been responsible for development of the proposed algorithm as well as for the writing of the publication. Furthermore all simulations were carried out by the author. The second author provided valuable comments on the work and suggested several modifications substantially improving the publication.

In publications [P2]-[P4] and [P6], the author was the sole contributor.

In publication [P5], the author was responsible for development of the proposed algorithm although the development was significantly influenced by the discussions with the second author. The author carried out all simulations as well as the writing of the publication. The second author provided valuable comments on the work and suggested major modifications in the publication structure that substantially improved its quality.

7 CONCLUSIONS

The provision of high-speed, high-quality wireless data services creates a need for further development of existing receiver algorithms as well as for the creation of completely new solutions. The main problem addressed in this thesis was the application of soft detection and decoding algorithms in the receivers of the base stations as well as in the mobile terminals in a way that good performance is achieved but that the computational complexity remains acceptable.

Two specific cases were considered in this thesis: coded multiuser detection in the CDMA base station and improved RAKE-based reception employing soft detection in the mobile terminal. To review the required background, a general introduction was given in Chapter 1 followed by a short background on wireless systems and receivers in Chapter 2. In Chapter 3, soft detection and decoding was introduced starting from detection theory and introducing soft detection by considering reduced complexity methods and in particular such iterative methods where soft detection and decoding play a key role. This chapter was concluded by a review of soft detection and decoding in wideband CDMA systems.

Throughout Chapter 3, the Bayesian networks were used to illustrate the problems addressed by soft detection and decoding. This view was selected because it was the original concept of this research, but also to emphasize the underlying connection between the two apparently separate research cases considered in this thesis.

In Chapter 4, the application of soft detection and decoding was studied for coded multiuser detection in CDMA base stations. The state-of-the-art research on coded multiuser receivers was reviewed with the emphasis on iterative joint multiuser receivers, the type of receivers considered in publications [P1] and [P2]. Finally, some system issues of iterative joint multiuser receivers were considered the analysis presented in [P3].

In Chapter 5 the application of soft detection for an improved RAKE-based reception in the mobile terminal was studied. The approach used to derive the improved RAKE receivers proposed in [P4], [P5] and [P6] was presented.

In Chapter 6, a summary of the publications and the author's contribution in those were presented. We also summarized the research work done. Since Bayesian networks were not explicitly utilized in the publications, we described how they were used in the development of the algorithms presented in the publications. The general approach was to develop the initial idea for the receiver structure using Bayesian networks, after which the detailed derivations of the various components in the receivers, such as the likelihood calculation algorithms, were done with other methods. Finally we listed the major and minor achievements in the publications constituting the thesis.

The new contributions of this thesis were made in two areas. The first part of the research focused on coded multiuser detection in the CDMA base station. The publications [P1], [P2] and [P3] contain the results of the research work related to the coded multiuser detection. The key achievements of this part of the research were development of the suboptimal multiuser likelihood algorithms in [P1] utilizing the variance re-estimation approach, which significantly improved the performance of these suboptimal algorithms as well as the work in [P2] showing how the more advanced channel variance estimation methods can be used to improve the suboptimal hard decision algorithm. In [P3], the key results were the derivation of an iterative way to analytically estimate the amount of noise present at *m*th stage in a coded interference cancellation (IC) receiver and the analytical estimate of the correlated channel performance of IC CDMA receivers that are using non-interleaved channel coding to improve the reliability of the tentative decisions.

The second part of the research focused on the reception in the mobile terminal and considered improved RAKE-based reception in the mobile terminal employing soft detection. The publications [P4], [P5] and [P6] contain the results of that research. The key achievements of this part of the research were the enhanced MRC scheme in [P4], which took into account the different noise powers and the channel estimation errors in different RAKE fingers. In [P5] a new bit metric was proposed for the soft-decision decoder, which was also suitable for higher-order modulation schemes. The contributions in [P5] also included a method to estimate the noise powers in different fingers based on the channel estimates and an analytical method to estimate channel estimation errors. Finally, in [P6] the key contributions were the analysis of the performance of different MRC schemes as well as the enhanced MRC scheme using the analytical estimate of the noise powers in different RAKE fingers.

8 FUTURE WORK

There are several potential ways to continue this research both in the area of coded multiuser detection as well as in the area of soft detection/decoding in mobile terminals. Moreover, at a more general level the use of Bayesian networks in the area of communications could also be investigated further. In this section we give some possible directions for future research in all of these areas.

In the area of coded multiuser detection, there is a vast body of existing research on the different receiver algorithms and on the performance gains achieved as was discussed in Section 4. However, there are several open system-level issues such as the ones discussed in Section 4.3.4. Thus the successful deployment of coded multiuser receivers in existing wideband CDMA systems requires that the feasibility of the deployment and the achievable performance gains are evaluated from the system point of view. Even with the existing knowledge it seems likely that coded multiuser detection is not very practical in systems utilizing fast power control or any other mechanisms that require low-latency feedback. One notable exception might be systems utilizing some short inner coding e.g. some short space-time block code like the Alamouti-type codes [Ala98].

There are also some complexity issues that need to be studied further in coded multiuser detection. So far the done research has concentrated on studying the performance gains without looking into implementation constraints. The implementation aspects need to be investigated before any deployment decisions can be made.

In the area of soft detection/decoding in mobile terminals there are no significant system issues hindering the deployment of the algorithms studied in this thesis. However, there are issues in the actual implementation, such as the performance of fixed-point implementation. These need to be studied further to evaluate the final feasibility of the proposed algorithms.

Looking at the further utilization of Bayesian networks in the development of new algorithms in the area of communications, there are many potential opportunities. In principle the Bayesian networks can be applied whenever the problem can be described using a system model with random variables. However, currently there are some factors limiting the usability of the Bayesian network approach.

First of all, the behavior of the approximate iterative algorithm in multiply-connected Bayesian networks should be understood better. In particular, theoretical results about the convergence of these algorithms and about propagation of eventual estimation errors are needed. Furthermore, the efficient handling of the continuous-valued random variables is currently possible only in limited case by using different kinds of ad hoc methods. Accordingly, the utilization of Bayesian networks in communications applications is currently almost exclusively limited to cases like channel decoding, where the random variables are essentially discrete. A more uniform way to handle continuous-valued random variables would be very beneficial.

For many important communications applications, the available processing power remains as a limitation also in near future. This applies in particular to the algorithms that are executed in mobile terminals. The use of Bayesian networks in these applications would become much more attractive, if some low-complexity variants of the sum-product algorithm were discovered. The best such candidates are probably some approximate algorithms. Again, the key issue is to understand how the propagation of the calculation errors affects the convergence and accuracy of the results. As was mentioned before, some theoretical results on this would be very useful.

The last requisite for the wider acceptance of the Bayesian network approach is to have a good and easily readable way to present both the networks and the algorithms used. A good effort for a common framework is made in [Fre98], but a more digestible way to use and analyze the Bayesian networks is needed in order to make the approach attractive to a working communications engineer.

66

REFERENCES

- [3GPPa] 3rd Generation Partnership Project, "High speed downlink packet access; Overall UTRAN description. (TR 25.855 version 5.0.0)", March 2002.
- [3GPPb] 3rd Generation Partnership Project, "Enhanced data rates for GSM evolution (EDGE); Project scheduling and open issues for EDGE. (TR 50.059 version 4.0.1)", August 2001.
- [3GPPc] 3rd Generation Partnership Project, "Multiplexing and channel coding (FDD), Release 1999 (TS 25.212 version 3.9.0)", March 2002.
- [AjM00] S. M. Aji, R. J. McEliece, "The generalized distributive law", *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 46, no. 2 pp. 325-343, March 2000.
- [AkA98] M. S. Akhter, J. Asenstorfer, "Iterative detection for MC-CDMA system with base station antenna array for fading channels", *Proc. IEEE Global Telecommunications Conference*, Globecom'98, Sydney, Australia, pp. 241-246, November 1998.
- [AAA98] M. S. Akhter, J. Asenstorfer, P. D. Alexander, M. C. Reed, "Performance of multicarrier CDMA with iterative detection", Proc. IEEE International Conference on Universal Personal Communications, ICUPC'98, Florence, Italy, pp. 131-135, October 1998.
- [Ala98] S. Alamouti, "A simple transmit diversity technique for wireless communications," *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, pp.1451–1458, October 1998.
- [Ale96] P. D. Alexander, *Coded Multiuser CDMA*, PhD Thesis, The Univ. of South Australia, 1996.
- [Ale97] P. D. Alexander, L. K. Rasmussen, C. B. Schlegel, "A Linear Receiver for Coded Multiuser CDMA", *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 45, no. 5, pp. 605-610, May 1997.

- [ARA99] P. D. Alexander, M. C. Reed, J. A. Asenstorfer, C. B. Schlegel, "Iterative multiuser interference reduction: Turbo CDMA", *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 47, no. 7, pp. 1008-1014, July 1999.
- [BCJ74] L. R. Bahl, J. Cocke, F. Jelinek, J. Raviv, "Optimal decoding of linear codes for minimizing symbol error rate", *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. IT-20, pp. 284-287, 1974.
- [Bar87] M.L. Barrett, "Error probability for optimal and suboptimal quadratic receivers in rapid Rayleigh fading channels", IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications, vol. SAC-5, Feb. 1987.
- [Bayes] T. Bayes, "An essay toward solving a problem in the doctrine of chances," *Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc.*, vol. 53, pp. 370–418, 1763. (Reprinted in *Biometrika*, vol. 45, pp. 293–315, 1958.)
- [BeW97] S. Beheshti, G. W. Wornell, "Iterative interference cancellation and decoding for spread-signature CDMA systems", Proc. IEEE 47th Vehicular Technology Conference, VTC'96, Phoenix, AZ, USA, pp. 26-30, May 1997.
- [BDM96] S. Benedetto, D. Divisalar, G. Montorsi and F. Pollara, "Soft-Output Decoding Algorithms in Iterative Decoding of Turbo Codes", JPL TDA Progress Report, vol. 42-124, pp. 63-87, 1996.
- [BeM96] S. Benedetto, G. Montorsi, "Serial concatenation of block and convolutional codes", IEE Electronic Letters, vol. 32, pp. 887-888, May 1996.
- [BOW00] G. E. Bottmley, T. Ottosson, Y.-P. E. Wang, "A generalized RAKE receiver for DS-CDMA systems", *Proc.* IEEE VTC'00, pp.941-945, Tokyo, Japan, May 2000.
- [BrY98] M. Brandt-Pearce, M-H. Yang, "Soft-decision multiuser detector for coded CDMA systems", Proc. IEEE International Communications Conference, ICC'98,Atlanta, GA, USA, pp. 365-369, June 1998.
- [Bre59] D. G. Brennan, "Linear Diversity Combining Techniques", Proc. IRE, vol. 47, pp. 1075-1102, June 1959.
- [BKS96] R. M. Buehrer, A. Kaul, S. Striglis, B. D. Woerner, "Analysis of DS-CDMA Parallel Interference Cancellation with Phase and Timing Errors", *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, vol. 14, no. 8, pp. 1522-1535, October 1996.

- [BuW96] R. M. Buehrer, B. D. Woerner, "Analysis of adaptive multistage interference cancellation for CDMA using an improved Gaussian approximation", *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 44, no. 10, October 1996.
- [CTB98] G. Caire, G. Taricco, E. Biglieri , "Bit-interleaved coded modulation", *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 44, no. 3, pp. 927-946, May 1998.
- [Chi01] M-C. Chiu, "Decision-feedback soft-input/soft-output multiuser detector for iterative decoding of coded CDMA", *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 25-33, January 2001.
- [CiW95] D. J. Cichon, W. Wiesbeck, "The Heinrich Hertz wireless experiments at Karlsruhe in the view of modern communication", in *Proc. International Conference on 100 Years* of Radio, 1995, pp. 1-6, September 1995.
- [Coo90] G. F. Cooper, "The computational complexity of probabilistic inference using Bayesian belief networks", Artificial Intelligence, vol. 42, no. 2-3, pp. 393-405, March 1990.
- [DHN95] P. Dayan, G.E. Hinton, R. M. Neal, R. S. Zemel, "The Helmholtz machine", Neural Computation, vol. 7, no. 5 pp. 889-904, September 1995.
- [DEA98] S. Das, E. Erkip, B. Aazhang, "Computationally efficient iterative multiuser detection and decoding", in *Proc. the Thirty-Second Asilomar Conference on Signals, Systems* & Computers, Pacific Grove, CA, USA, pp. 631-634, August 1998.
- [DaE98] S. Das, E. Erkip, J. R. Cavallaro, B. Aazhang, "Iterative multiuser detection and decoding", in *Proc. Seventh Communication Theory Mini-Conference in conjunction with Globecom'98*, Sydney, Australia, pp. 1006-1111, November 1998.
- [DHZ95] A. Duel-Hallen, J. Holtzman, Z. Zvonar, "Multiuser Detection for CDMA Systems", *IEEE Personal Communications*, vol. 2, no. 2, April 1995.
- [EAS95] R. J. Eassom, R. L. J. Awcock, B. M. Sosin, "HF transmitters and receivers for naval radio", in *Proc. International Conference on 100 Years of Radio*, 1995, pp. 62-68, September 1995.
- [EID99] A. Elezabi, A. Duel-Hallen, "Two-stage receiver structures for coded CDMA systems", in Proc. IEEE 49th Vehicular Technology Conference, VTC'99 Spring, Houston, TX, USA, pp.1425-1429, July 1999.

- [ElG99] H. El Gamal, E. Geraniotis, "Novel iterative multi-user detector based on the MMSE criterion", in *Proc. IEEE 49th Vehicular Technology Conference*, VTC'99 Spring, Houston, TX, USA, pp.1052-1056, July 1999.
- [ElG00] H. El Gamal, E. Geraniotis, "Iterative multiuser detection for coded CDMA signals in AWGN and fading channels", *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 30-41, January 2000.
- [FKL97] B. J. Frey, F. R. Kschischang, H. A. Loeliger, N. Wiberg, "Factor graphs and algorithms", in Proc. of the 35th Allerton Conference on Communication, Control and Computing, 1997.
- [Fre98] B. J. Frey, *Graphical models for machine learning and digital communication*, The MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts, 1998.
- [FrM98] B. J. Frey, D. J. C: MacKay, "A revolution: Belief propagation in graphs with cycles", In M.I. Jordan et al. (editors), *Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems 10*, MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts, 1998.
- [FPR01] M. Frodigh, S. Parkvall, C. Roobol, P. Johansson, P. Larsson, "Future generation wireless networks", *IEEE Personal Communications*, vol. 8 no. 5 pp. 10-17, October 2001.
- [Gal62] R. G. Gallager, "Low-density parity-check codes", *IRE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. IT-8, no.1, pp. 21-28, January 1962.
- [Gauss] C. F. Gauss, *Theoria Combinationis Observationum Erroribus Minimis Obnoxiae*. Dieterich, Göttingen, Germany, 1823.
- [GSM05] ETSI ETS 300577, "Digital cellular telecommunications system (Phase 2); Radio transmission and reception (GSM 05.05 version 4.18.1)", ETSI Secretariat, August 1997.
- [FaA96] U. Fawer, B. Aazhang, "Multiuser receivers for code-division multiple-access systems with trellis-based modulation", *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, vol. 14, no. 8, pp. 1602-1609, October 1996.
- [Fis22] R. A. Fisher, "On the mathematical foundations of theoretical statistics," *Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc.*, vol. A 222, pp. 309–368, 1922.

- [For72] G. D. Forney, Jr., "Maximum-likelihood sequence estimation of digital sequences in the presence of intersymbol interference," *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. IT-18, no. 3, pp. 363–378, May 1972.
- [GiW96] T. R. Giallorenzi, S. G. Wilson, "Multiuser ML Sequence Estimator for Convolutionally Coded Asynchronous DS-CDMA Systems", *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 44, no. 8, pp. 997-1008, August 1996.
- [GWi96] T. R. Giallorenzi, S. G. Wilson, "Suboptimum multiuser receivers for convolutionally coded asynchronous DS-CDMA systems", *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 44,no. 9, pp. 1183-1196, September 1996.
- [Gra96] A. J. Grant, *Multiple User Information Theory and Coding*, PhD thesis, The Univ. of South Australia, 1996.
- [GrS95] A. J. Grant, C. Schlegel, "An iterative multiuser receiver: the consensus detector ", in Proc. IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory, ISIT'95, Whistler, Canada, p. 383, September 1995.
- [HaS96] A. Hafeez, W. E. Stark, "Combined decision-feedback multiuser detection/softdecision decoding for CDMA channels", in *Proc. IEEE Vehicular Technology Conference*, VTC'96, Atlanta, GA, USA, pp. 382 -386, April 1996.
- [HaS97] A. Hafeez, W. E. Stark, "Soft-Output Multiuser Estimation for Asynchronous CDMA Channels", in *Proc. IEEE 47th Vehicular Technology Conference*, VTC'97, Phoenix, AZ, USA pp. 465-469, May 1997.
- [HOP96] J. Hagenauer, E. Offer, L. Papke, "Iterative decoding of binary block and convolutional codes", *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 42, pp. 429-445, March 1996.
- [HaL98] W. Haifeng, J. Lilleberg, "Joint multiuser detector with decoding and feedback in asynchronous CDMA systems", in *Proc. IEEE 5th International Symposium on Spread Spectrum Techniques and Applications*, ISSSTA'98, Sun City, South Africa, pp. 160-163, September 1998.
- [HLi98] W. Haifeng, J. Lilleberg, "Novel iterative multiuser receiver for asynchronous CDMA systems in Rayleigh fading channels", in *Proc. The Ninth IEEE International Symposium on Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications*, PIMRC'98, Boston, MA, USA, pp. 208-212, September 1998.

- [HaL99] W. Haifeng, J. Lilleberg, "Interference cancellation based multiuser receiver with channel decoding and decision feedback in asynchronous CDMA systems", in *Proc. IEEE Global Telecommunications Conference*, Globecom'99, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, pp. 462-466, December 1999.
- [HRB95] K. W. Halford, Y. Rosenbaum, M. Brandt-Pearce, "Near-orthogonal coding for spread spectrum and error correction", in *Proc. IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory*, ISIT'95, Whistler, Canada, p. 31, September 1995.
- [HaA96] U. Hansson, T. M. Aulin, "Soft information transfer for sequence detection with concatenated receivers", *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 44, no. 9, pp. 1086-1095, September 1996.
- [HeW99] C. Heegard, S. B. Wicker, *Turbo coding*, Kluwer academic publishers, Boston, 1999.
- [HSH97] R. Herzog, A. Schmidbauer, J. Hagenauer, "Iterative decoding and despreading improves CDMA-systems using M-ary orthogonal modulation and FEC", in *Proc. IEEE International Communications Conference*, ICC'97, Montreal, Canada, pp. 909-913, June 1997.
- [Her98] R. Herzog, "Interference cancellation for a high data rate user in coded CDMA systems", in *Proc. IEEE International Communications Conference*, ICC'98, Atlanta, GA, USA, pp. 709-713, June 1998.
- [HJL99] K. Hooli, M. Juntti, M. Latva-aho, "Inter-path interference suppression in WCDMA systems with low spreading factors", in *Proc. IEEE VTS 50th Vehicular Technology Conference, 1999*, VTC 1999 Fall, pp. 421-425, September 1999.
- [HoW99] M. M. K. Howlader, B. D. Woerner, "Iterative interference cancellation and decoding for DS-CDMA systems", in *Proc. IEEE VTS 50th Vehicular Technology Conference*, 1999, VTC 1999 Fall, pp. 1815-1819, September 1999.
- [HsW01] J.-M. Hsu, C.-L. Wang, "A low complexity iterative multiuser receiver for Turbocoded DS-CDMA systems", *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, vol. 19, no. 9, pp. 1775-1783, September 2001.
- [HHT97] S. Hämäläinen, H. Holma, A. Toskala, M. Laukkanen, "Analysis of CDMA downlink capacity enhancements", in *Proc. The 8th IEEE International Symposium on Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications, PIMRC'97, Helsinki, Finland,* pp. 241–245, September 1997.

- [Jun97] M. Juntti, Multiuser demodulation for DS-CDMA Systems in Fading Channels, Dr. Tech. Thesis, Acta Univ. Oulu. Tech. C 106, 1997.
- [JuK99] M. Juntti, O-P. Kaurahalme, "Performance of parallel interference cancellation for CDMA with channel coding", in *Proc. IEEE 49th Vehicular Technology Conference*, VTC'99 Spring, Houston, TX, USA, pp. 1440-1444, July 1999.
- [KaP98] T. Kailath, H. V. Poor, "Detection of stochastic processes", *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 44, no. 6, pp. 2230-2259, October 1998.
- [KaH97] S. Kaiser, J. Hagenauer, "Multi-carrier CDMA with iterative decoding and softinterference cancellation", in Proc. IEEE Global Telecommunications Conference, Globecom'97, Phoenix, AZ, USA pp. 6-10, November 1997.
- [KaW94] A. Kaul, B.D. Woerner, "Analytic limits on performance of adaptive multistage interference cancellation for CDMA", *IEE Eletronics Letters*, vol. 30, no. 25, Dec. 1994.
- [KFL01] F. R. Kschischang, B. J. Frey, H-A. Loeliger, "Factor graphs and the sum-product algorithm", *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 47, no. 2, pp.498-519, February 2001.
- [Kär96] K. Kärkkäinen, Code families and their performance measures for CDMA and military spread-spectrum systems, Dr. Tech. Thesis, Acta Univ. Oulu. Tech. C 89, 1996.
- [RKS97] M-Reza Koohrangpour, A. Svensson, "Joint Interference Cancellation and Viterbi Decoding in DS-CDMA", in Proc. The 8th IEEE International Symposium on Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications, PIMRC'97, pp. 1161 –1170, 1997.
- [LiL00] Y. Li, K. H. Li, "Iterative PDF estimation and decoding for CDMA systems with non-Gaussian characterization", *Electronics Letters*, vol. 36, no. 8, pp.730-731, April 2000.
- [Liu92] Y.-J. Liu, "Soft decision decoding of a bit-interleaved convolutionally encoded code division multiple access system over Rayleigh fading channels", in *Proc The 8th IEEE International Symposium on Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications*, PIMRC'92, pp. 128–132, 1997.

- [LuV90] R. Lupas, S. Verdú, "Linear multiuser detectors for synchronous code-division multiple access channels", *IEEE Trans. Information Theory*, vol. 35, pp. 123-136, June 1988.
- [MaB01] A. Marincic, D. Budimir, "Tesla's contribution to radiowave propagation", in Proc. 5th International Conference on Telecommunications in Modern Satellite, Cable and Broadcasting Service, TELSIKS 2001, Niš, Yugoslavia, pp. 327-331, September 2001.
- [MVF99] S. Marinkovic, B. Vucetic, W. Feng, "Performance of multiuser MMSE decision feedback receiver with convolutional codes and trellis coded modulation", in *Proc. IEEE Global Telecommunications Conference*, Globecom'99, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, pp. 2405-2410, December 1999.
- [MSW97] J. Mayer, J. Schlee, T. Weber, "Protocol and Signalling Aspects of Joint Detection CDMA", in in Proc. The 8th IEEE International Symposium on Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications, PIMRC'97, pp. 867–871, 1997.
- [Max64] J. C. Maxwell, "A dynamical theory of the electromagnetic field," Phil. Trans. Royal Soc. (London), vol. 155, pp. 459-512, 1865.
- [MMC98] R. J. McEliece, D. J. C. MacKay, J-F. Cheng, "Turbo decoding as an instance of Pearl's "belief propagation" algorithm", *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 140-152, February 1998.
- [MeV98] P. Meshkat, J. D. Villasenor, "Generalized versions of turbo decoding in the framework of Bayesian networks and Pearl's belief propagation algorithm", Proc. IEEE International Communications Conference, ICC'98, Atlanta, GA, USA, pp. 121-125, June 1998.
- [Moh97] M. Moher, "Turbo-based multiuser detection", in *Proc. IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory*, ISIT'97, Ulm, Germany, p. 195, June 1997.
- [Moh98] M. Moher, "An iterative multiuser decoder for near-capacity communications", *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 46, no. 7, pp. 870-880, July 1998.
- [Moh98b] M. Moher, "An iterative multiuser decoder for asynchronous BPSK users", in Proc. IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory, ISIT'98, Cambridge MA, USA, p. 423, August 1998.

- [MoG98] M. Moher, P. Guinand, "An iterative algorithm for asynchronous coded multiuser detection", *IEEE Communications Letters*, vol. 2, no. 8, pp. 229-231, August 1998.
- [NBK00] S. Nanda, K. Balachandran, S. Kumar, "Adaptation techniques in wireless packet data services", *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 38 no. 1, pp. 54-64, January 2000.
- [Nag98] T. Nagayasu, K. Hiroshi, K. Muranami, T. Fujino, N. Morinaga, "Receiver with iterative soft decision for frequency selective fading channels", *IEE Electronic Letters*, vol. 34, no. 9, pp. 855-856, April 1998.
- [NeP33] J. Neyman and E. Pearson, "On the problem of the most efficient tests of statistical hypotheses," *Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc.*, vol. A 231, no. 9, pp. 492–510, 1933.
- [NSR98] M. Nasiri-Kenari, R. R. Sylvester, C. K. Rushforth, "An efficient soft-in-soft-out multiuser detector for synchronous CDMA with error-control coding", *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, vol. 47, no. 3, August 1998.
- [Nig97] S. J. Nightingale, "Filings, filaments and FETs: technologies for harnessing the waves", *Electronics & Communication Engineering Journal*, vol. 9 no. 5, pp. 209-220, October 1997.
- [NoT96] R. van Nobelen, D.P. Taylor, "Analysis of the pairwise error probability of noninterleaved codes on the Rayleigh fading channel", *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 44, no.4 April 1996.
- [Nor43] D. O. North, "An analysis of the factors which determine signal/noise discrimination in pulsed-carrier systems," *RCA Lab. Rep.* PTR-6C, June 1943. (Reprinted in Proc. IEEE, vol. 51, pp. 1016–1027, July 1963.)
- [Omu69] J. K. Omura, "On the Viterbi decoding algorithm," *IEEE Transaction on Information Theory*, vol. IT-15, no.1, pp. 177–179, January 1969.
- [Ott97] T. Ottosson, Coding, Modulation and Multiuser Decoding for DS-CDMA Systems, Dr. Tech. Thesis, Chalmers Univ. Tech. Report No. 324, 1997.
- [Pah95] K. Pahlavan, A. H. Levesque, Wireless information networks, John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1995.
- [PDF01] S. Parkvall, E. Dahlman, P. Frenger, P. Beming, M.Persson, "The evolution of WCDMA Towards Higher Speed Downlink Packet Data Access", in *Proc. IEEE*

53rd Vehicular Technology Conference, VTC'01 Spring, Rhodes, Greece, pp. 2287-2291, May 2001.

- [Pea88] J. Pearl, Probabilistic Reasoning in Intelligent Systems, Morgan Kaufmann, San Mateo, CA, 1988.
- [PSC96] L. C. Perez, J. Seghers, and D. J. Costello, "A distance spectrum interpretation of Turbo codes", *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. 42, no. 6, pp. 1698 – 1709, November 1996.
- [Poo94] H. V. Poor, An Introduction to Signal Detection and Estimation, 2nd Ed., Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1994.
- [Pro95] J. G. Proakis, *Digital Communications*, 3rd Ed., McGraw-Hill, New York. 1995.
- [QTG00] Z. Qin, K. C. Teh, E. Gunawan, "Iterative interference cancellation for asynchronous CDMA with reduced-state Turbo decoders", *IEE Electronic Letters*, vol. 36, no. 19, pp. 1652-1653, September 2000.
- [RaA97] M. Rahnema, Y. Antia, "Optimum soft-decision decoding with channel state information in the precence of fading", *IEEE Communications Magazine*, July 1997.
- [RWO95] S. M. Redl, M. K. Weber, M. W. Oliphant, An introduction to GSM, Artech House, Norwood, MA, 1995.
- [ReC99] I. S. Reed, X. Chen, *Error-control coding for data networks*, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston, 1999.
- [RAA97] M. C. Reed, P. D. Alexander, J. A. Asenstorfer, C. B. Schlegel, "Iterative Multiuser Detection for DS-CDMA with FEC", *Int. Symp. on Turbo Codes*, Brest, France, pp. 162-165, Sep. 1997.
- [ReA97] M. C. Reed, P. D. Alexander, J. A. Asenstorfer, C. B. Schlegel, "Near single user performance using iterative multi-user detection for CDMA with turbo-code decoders", in *Proc of the 8th IEEE International Symposium on Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications*, PIMRC'97, Helsinki, Finland pp. 740-744, September 1997.
- [RA197] M. C. Reed, P. D. Alexander, J. A. Asenstorfer, C. B. Schlegel, "Reduced complexity iterative multi-user detection for DS/CDMA with FEC", in *Proc. IEEE 6th*

International Conference on Universal Personal Communications, ICUPC'97, San Diego, CA, USA, pp. 10-14, October 1997.

- [RA97] M. C. Reed, J. A. Asenstorfer, "A novel variance estimator for Turbo-code decoding", in *Proc. of ITC'97*, pp. 173-178, April 1997.
- [RSA98] M. C. Reed, C. B. Schlegel, P. D. Alexander, J. A. Asenstorfer, "Iterative Multiuser detection for CDMA with FEC: Near single user performance", *IEEE Transactions* on Communications, vol. 46, pp. 1693-1699, December 1998.
- [SaN96] Y. Sanada, M. Nakagawa, "A Multiuser Interference Cancellation Technique Utilizing Convolutional Codes and Orthogonal Multicarrier Modulation for Wireless Indoor Communications", *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, vol. 14, no. 8, pp.1500-1509, October 1996.
- [SaW96] Y. Sanada, Q. Wang, "A co-channel interference cancellation technique using orthogonal convolutional codes", *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 44, no. 5, pp. 549 –556, May 1996.
- [SJJ96] L. K. Saul, T. Jaakkola, M. I. Jordan, "Mean field theory for sigmoid belief networks", *Journal of Artificial Intelligence Research*, vol. 4, pp. 61-76, March 1996.
- [Sch94] C. Schlegel, "Trellis coded modulation on time-selective fading channels", IEEE Transactions on Communications, vol. 42, no. 2/3/4, pp. 1617-1627 Feb/Mar/Apr. 1994.
- [SRA96] C. Schlegel, S. Roy, P. Alexander, Z-J. Xiang, "Multiuser projection receivers", *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, vol. 14, no. 8, pp. 1610-1618, October 1996.
- [ScM97] C. Schlegel, V. J. Mathews, "Computationally efficient multiuser detection for coded CDMA", in Proc. IEEE 6th International Conference on Universal Personal Communications, ICUPC'97, San Diego, CA, USA, pp. 1-4, October 1997.
- [SAR97] C. Schlegel, P. Alexander, S. Roy, "An adaptive projection receiver for asynchronous coded CDMA", in *Proc. IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory*, ISIT'97, Ulm, Germany, p. 148, June 1997.

- [SAR98] C. Schlegel, P. Alexander, S. Roy, "Coded asynchronous CDMA and its efficient detection", *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol 44, no. 7, pp. 2837-2847, November 1998.
- [ShV98] Y. Shama, B. R. Vojcic, "A reduced complexity detector/decoder for multiuser communications with FEC", in *Proc. IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory*, ISIT'98, Cambridge, MA, USA, p. 284, August 1998.
- [Skl97] B. Sklar, "A primer on Turbo code concepts", *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 35, no. 12, pp. 94-102, December 1997.
- [SIG00] D. T. M. Slock, I. Ghauri, "Blind maximum SINR receiver for the DS-CDMA downlink", in Proc. IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing, ICASSP '00, pp. 2485-2488, 2000.
- [TSW00] S. Tantikovit, A. U. H. Sheikh, M. Z. Wang, "Combining schemes in RAKE receiver for low spreading factor long-code W-CDMA systems", *IEE Electronics Letters*, vol.36, no.22, pp.1872-1874, October 2000
- [ThG01] J. Thomas, E. Geraniotis, "Soft iterative multisensor multiuser detection in coded dispersive CDMA wireless channels", *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, vol. 19, no. 7, pp. 1334-1351, July 2001.
- [Tur60] G. L. Turin, "The characteristic function of Hermitian quadratic forms in complex normal variables", *Biometrika*, vol. 47, pp.199-201, June 1960.
- [VaW98] M. C. Valenti, B. D. Woerner, "Iterative multiuser detection for convolutionally coded asynchronous DS-CDMA", in *Proceedings of the Ninth IEEE International Symposium on Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications*, PIMRC'98, Boston, MA, USA, pp. 213-217, September 1998
- [VaA90] M. K. Varanasi, B. K. Aazhang, "Multistage Detection in Asynchronous Code-Division Multiple-Access Communications", *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 38 no. 4, pp. 509 –519, April 1990.
- [Vit67] A. J. Viterbi, "Error bounds for convolutional codes and an asymptotically optimum decoding algorithm," *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. IT-13, pp. 260– 269, Apr. 1967.

- [Vit90] A. J. Viterbi, "Very low rate convolutional codes for maximum theoretical performance of spread-spectrum multiple-access channels", *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, vol. 8, no. 4, pp. 641-649, May 1990.
- [Vit95] A. Viterbi, Performance Limits of Error Correcting Coding in Multi-Cellular CDMA Systems with and without Interference Cancellation, in Code Division Multiple Access Communications, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 1995.
- [Ver86] S. Verdú, "Minimum probability of error for asychronous Gaussian multiple-access channels", *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, vol. IT-32, no. 1, pp. 85-96, January 1986.
- [SVe86] S. Verdú, "Near-far resistant receivers for DS/SSMA communications", U.S. Army *Research Proposal*, Contract DAAL03-87-K-0062, Princeton University, 1986.
- [Ver89] S. Verdú, "Computational complexity of optimum multiuser detection", *Algorithmica*, vol. 4, pp. 303-312, 1989.
- [Ver97] S. Verdú, "Demodulation in the presence of multiaccess interference: Progress and misconceptions", in d. Docampo, A. Figureiras, and F. Perez, editors, Intelligent Methods in signal Processing and Communications, Chapter 2, pp. 15-46, Birkhauser, Boston, 1997.
- [Ver98] S. Verdú, *Multiuser Detection*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, MA, 1998.
- [VSP97] B. R. Vojcic, Y. Shama, R. L. Pickholtz, "Optimum soft output MAP detector for coded multiuser communications", *Proc. IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory*, ISIT'97, Ulm, Germany, p. 229, June 1997.
- [WaP98] X. Wang, H. V. Poor, "Turbo multiuser detection", in Conference Record of the Thirty-Second Asilomar Conference on Signals, Systems & Computers, Pacific Grove, CA, USA, pp. 635-639, August 1998.
- [WPo98] X. Wang, H. V. Poor, "Turbo multiuser detection and equalization for coded CDMA in multipath channels", in *Proc. IEEE International Conference on Universal Personal Communications*, ICUPC'98, Florence, Italy, pp. 1123-1127, October 1998.
- [WaP99] X. Wang, H. V. Poor, "Iterative (turbo) soft interference cancellation and decoding for coded CDMA", *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 47, no. 7, pp. 1046-1061, July 1999.

- [WLC99] M. Y. F. Wong, K. B. Letaief, K. B. Cheng, R. D. Murch, "Multiuser interference cancellation in TCM and convolutionally coded DS/CDMA system", in *Proc. IEEE* 49th Vehicular Technology Conference, VTC'99 Spring, Houston, TX, USA, pp. 1047-1051, July 1999.
- [WoJ65] J. M. Wozencraft and I. Jacobs, Principles of Communication Engineering. Wiley, New York, 1965.
- [ZhB01] Y. Zhang, R. S. Blum, "Iterative multiuser detection for Turbo-coded synchronous CDMA in Gaussian and non-Gaussian impulsive noise", *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 49, no. 3, pp. 397-400, March 2001.
- [Zeh92] E. Zehavi, "8-PSK trellis codes for a Rayleigh channel", *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 40, no. 5, pp. 873-883, May 1992.

PUBLICATIONS [P1]-[P6]

PUBLICATION [P1]

K. Kettunen, T. Laakso, "Iterative multiuser receiver utilizing soft decoding information," in Proceedings *IEEE International Communications Conference*, ICC'99, Vancouver, BC, Canada, pp. 942-946, June 1999.

PUBLICATION [P2]

K. Kettunen, "Iterative multiuser receiver/decoders with enhanced variance estimation," in Proceedings *IEEE 49th Vehicular Technology Conference*, VTC'99, Houston, Texas, USA, pp. 2318-2322, May 1999.

PUBLICATION [P3]

K. Kettunen, "Performance of coded multistage detection in correlated Rayleigh channels", in Proceedings *X European Signal Processing Conference*, EUSIPCO-2000, Tampere, Finland, pp. 565-568, September 2000.

PUBLICATION [P4]

K. Kettunen, "Enhanced maximal ratio combining scheme for RAKE receivers in WCDMA mobile terminals", *IEE Electronics Letters*, vol. 37, no. 8 pp. 522-524, 12th April 2001.

PUBLICATION [P5]

K. Kettunen, J. Lilleberg, "Decoding metric of downlink CDMA RAKE receivers using bitinterleaved coded modulation", accepted to Wireless Personal Communications May 2002.

PUBLICATION [P6]

K. Kettunen, "Enhanced maximal ratio combining for RAKE receivers in mobile CDMA terminals", in Proceedings *5th Nordic Signal Processing Symposium*, NORSIG 2002, on board Hurtigruten, Norway, pp. 217-221, October 2002.